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Why do I speak to you from exile?

Because a Negro community in the South took up guns
in self-defense against racist violence—and used them. | am
held responsible for this action, that for the first time in his-
tory American Negroes have armed themselves as a group to
defend their homes, their wives, their children, in a situation
where law and order had broken down, where the authori-
ties could not, or rather would not, enforce their duty to
protect Americans from a lawless mob. I accept this respon-
sibility and am proud of it. | have asserted the right of Ne-
groes to meet the violence of the Ku Klux Klan by armed
self-defense—and have acted on it. It has always been an
accepted right of Americans, as the history of our Western
states proves, that where the law is unable, or unwilling, to
enforce order, the citizens can, and must, act in self-defense
against lawless violence. I believe this right holds for black
Americans as well as whites.

Many people will remember that in the summer of 1957
the Ku Klux Klan made an armed raid on an Indian commu-
nity in the South and were met with determined rifle fire
from the Indians acting in self-defense. The nation approved
of the action and there were widespread expressions of plea-
sure at the defeat of the Kluxers who showed their courage
by running away despite their armed superiority. What the
nation doesn’t know, because it has never been told, is that
the Negro community in Monroe, North Carolina, had set
the example two weeks before when we shot up an armed
motorcade of the Ku Klux Klan, including two police cars,
which had come to attack the home of Dr. Albert E. Perry,
vice-president of the Monroe chapter of the National Associ-
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ation for the Advancement of Colored People. The stand
taken by our chapter resulted in the official re-affirmation by
the NAACP of the right of seli-defense. The Preamble to the
resolution of the 50th Convention of the NAACP, New York
City, July 1959, states: “. . . we do not deny, but reaffirm,
the right of an individual and collective seli-defense against
unlawful assaults.”

Because there has been much distortion of my position,
I wish to make it clear that I do not advocate violence for its
own sake or for the sake of reprisals against whites. Nor am
I against the passive resistance advocated by the Reverend
Martin Luther King and others. My only difference with Dr.
King is that I believe in flexibility in the freedom struggle.
This means that I believe in non-violent tactics where feasi-
ble; the mere fact that I have a Sit-In case pending before the
U.S. Supreme Court bears this out. Massive civil disobedi-
ence is a powerful weapon under civilized conditions where
the law safeguards the citizens’ right of peaceful demonstra-
tions. In civilized society the law serves as a deterrent
against lawless forces that would destroy the democratic
process. But where there is a breakdown of the law, the indi-
vidual citizen has a right to protect his person, his family,
his home and his property. To me this is so simple and
proper that it is self-evident.

When an oppressed people show a willingness to de-
fend themselves, the enemy, who is a moral weakling and
coward, is more willing to grant concessions and work for a
respectable compromise. Psychologically, moreover, racists
consider themselves superior beings and are not willing to
exchange their superior lives for our inferior ones. They are
most vicious and violent when they can practice violence
with impunity. This we have shown in Monroe. Moreover,
when because of our self-defense there is a danger that the
blood of whites may be spilled, the local authorities in the
South suddenly enforce law and order when previously they
had been complacent toward lawless, racist violence. This
too we have proven in Monroe. It is remarkable how easily
and quickly state and local police control and disperse law-
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less mobs when the Negro is ready to defend himself with
arms.

Furthermore, because of the international situation, the
Federal Government does not want racial incidents which
draw the attention of the world to the situation in the South.
Negro self-defense draws such attention, and the Federal
Government will be more willing to enforce law and order if
the local authorities don't. When our people become fight-
ers, our leaders will be able to sit at the conference table as
equals, not dependent on the whim and the generosity of the
oppressors. It will be to the best interests of both sides to
negotiate just, honorable and lasting settlements.

The majority of white people in the United States have
literally no idea of the violence with which Negroes in the
South are treated daily—nay, hourly. This violence is delib-
erate, conscious, condoned by the authorities. It has gone
on for centuries and is going on today, every day, unceasing
and unremitting. It is our way of life. Negro existence in the
South has been one long travail, steeped in terror and
blood—our blood. The incidents which took place in Mon-
roe, which I witnessed and which I suffered, will give some
idea of the conditions in the South, conditions that can no
longer be borne. That is why, one hundred years after the
Civil War began, we Negroes in Monroe armed ourselves in
self-defense and used our weapons. We showed that our pol-
icy worked. The lawful authorities of Monroe and North Car-
olina acted to enforce order only after, and as a direct result
of. our being armed. Previously they had connived with the
Ku Klux Klan in the racist violence against our people. Self-
defense prevented bloodshed and forced the law to estab-
lish order. This is the meaning of Monroe and I believe it
marks a historic change in the life of my people. This is the
story of that change.



Chapter 1

Self-Defense Prevents Bloodshed
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In June of 1961 the NAACP Chapter of Monroe, North
Carolina, decided to picket the town’s swimming pool. This
pool, built by WPA money, was forbidden to Negroes al-
though we formed one quarter of the population of the town.
In 1957 we had asked not for integration but for the use of
the pool one day a week. This was denied and for four years
we were put off with vague suggestions that someday an-
other pool would be built. Two small Negro children had
meantime drowned swimming in creeks. Now, in 1961, the
City of Monroe announced it had surplus funds, but there
was no indication of a pool, no indication of even an inten-
tion to have a pool. So we decided to start a picket line. We
started the picket line and the picket line closed the pool.
When the pool closed the racists decided to handle the mat-
ter in traditional Southern style. They turned to violence,
unlawful violence.

We had been picketing for two days when we started
taking lunch breaks in a picnic area reserved for “White Peo-
ple Only.” Across from the picnic area, on the other side of
a stream of water, a group of white people started firing rifles
and we could hear the bullets strike the trees over our
heads. The chief of police was on duty at the pool and [ ap-
pealed to him to stop the firing into the picnic area. The
chief of police said, “Oh, I don’t hear anything. I don’t hear
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anything at all.” They continued shooting all that day. The
following day these people drifted toward the picket line fir-
ing their pistols and we kept appealing to the chief of police
to stop them from shooting near us. He would always say,
“Well, I don’t hear anything.”

The pool remained closed but we continued the line
and crowds of many hundreds would come to watch us and
shout insults at the pickets. The possibility of violence was
increasing to such a proportion that we had sent a telegram
to the U.S. Justice Department asking them to protect our
right to picket. The Justice Department referred us to the
local FBI. We called the local FBI in Charlotte and they said
this was not a matter for the U.S. Justice Department; it was
a local matter and they had checked with our local chief of
police, who had assured them that he would give us ample
protection. This was the same chief of police who had stood
idly by while these people were firing pistols and rifles over
our heads, the same chief of police who in 1957 had placed
two police cars in a Klan motorcade that raided the Negro
community.

Attempt to Kill Me

On Friday, June 23, 1961, I went into town to make an-
other telephone call to the Justice Department. While I was
there I picked up one of the pickets and started back to the
line at the swimming pool, which was on the outskirts of
town. I was driving down U.S. Highway 74 going east when a
heavy car (I was driving a small English car, a Hillman), a
1955 DeSoto sedan, came up from behind and tried to force
my lighter car off the embankment and over a cliff with a 75-
foot drop. I outmaneuvered him by speeding up and getting
in front of him. Then he rammed my car from the rear and
locked the bumper and started a zig-zag motion across the
highway in an attempt to flip my light car over. The bumpers
were stuck and I didn’t use the brake because I didn’t want
to neutralize the front wheels.

We had to pass right by a highway patrol station. The
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station was in a 35-mile-an-hour zone and by the time we
passed it the other car was pushing me at 70 miles an hour.
| started blowing my horn incessantly, hoping to attract the
attention of the highway patrolmen. There were three patrol-
men standing on the opposite side of the embankment in the
yard of the station. They looked at the man who was pushing
and zig-zagging me across the highway and then threw up
their hands, laughed, and turned their backs to the highway.
He kept pushing me for a quarter of a mile until we
came to a highway intersection carrying heavy traffic. The
man was hoping to run me out into the traffic, but about 75
feet away from the highway | was finally able to rock loose
from his bumper, and I made a sharp turn into the ditch.
My car was damaged. The brake drum, the wheels, and
the bearings had been damaged, and all of the trunk com-
partment in the rear had been banged in. After we got it out
of the ditch, I took the car back to the swimming pool and
showed it to the chief of police. He stood up and looked at
the car and laughed. He said, “1 don’t see anything. I don’t
see anything at all.” I said, “You were standing here when |
left.” He said, “Well, I still don’t see anything.” So I told him
[ wanted a warrant for the man, whom I had recognized. He
was Bynum Griffin, the Pontiac-Cheverolet dealer in Monroe.
He said, “I can’t give you a warrant because I can’t see any-
thing that he’s done.” But a newspaperman standing there
started to examine my car, and when the chief of police dis-
covered that a newspaperman was interested, then he said,
“Well, come to the police station and I'll give you a warrant.”
When | went to the police station he said, “Well, you
just got a name and a license number and I can't indict a
man on that. You can take it up with the Court Solicitor.” [
went to the Court Solicitor, which is equivalent to the Dis-
trict Attorney, and he said, “Well, all you got here is a name
and a number on a piece of paper. | can’t indict a man on
these grounds.” I told him that I recognized the man and
mentioned his name. He said, “Wait a minute,” and he made
a telephone call. He said, “I called him and he said he didn’t
do that.” I again told him that I had recognized the man and
that I had the license number of the car that he had used.
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Finally the Court Solicitor said, “Well, if you insist, I'll tell
you what you do. You go to his house and take a look at him
and if you recognize him, you bring him up here and I'll make
out a warrant for him.” I told him that was what the police
were being paid for, that they were supposed to go and pick
up criminals. So they refused to give me a warrant for this
man at all.

“God Damn, The Niggers Have Got Guns!”’

The picket line continued. On Sunday, on our way to
the swimming pool, we had to pass through the same inter-
section (U.S. 74 and U.S. 601). There were about two or three
thousand people lined along the highway. Two or three po-
licemen were standing at the intersection directing traffic
and there were two policemen who had been following us
from my home. An old stock car without windows was
parked by a restaurant at the intersection. As soon as we
drew near, this car started backing out as fast as possible.
The driver hoped to hit us in the side and flip us over. But |
turned my wheel sharply and the junk car struck the front of
my car and both cars went into a ditch.

Then the crowd started screaming. They said that a nig-
ger had hit a white man. They were referring to me. They
were screaming, “Kill the niggers! Kill the niggers! Pour gaso-
line on the niggers! Burn the niggers!”

We were still sitting in the car. The man who was driv-
ing the stock car got out of the car with a baseball bat and
started walking toward us saying, “Nigger, what did you hit
me for?” I didn’t say anything to him. We just sat there look-
ing at him. He came up close to our car, within arm’s length
with the baseball bat, but I still hadn’t said anything and we
didn’t move in the car. What they didn’t know was that we
were armed. Under North Carolina state law it is legal to
carry firearms in your automobile so long as these firearms
are not concealed.

I had two pistols and a rifle in the car. When this fellow
started to draw back his baseball bat, I put an Army .45 up
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in the window of the car and pointed it right into his face
and didn’t say a word. He looked at the pistol and he didn’t
say anything. He started backing away from the car.

Somebody in the crowd fired a pistol and the people
again started to scream hysterically, “Kill the niggers! Kill
the niggers! Pour gasoline on the niggers!” The mob started
to throw stones on top of my car. So I opened the door of
the car and I put one foot on the ground and stood up in the
door holding an Italian carbine.

All this time three policemen had been standing about
fifty feet away from us while we kept waiting in the car for
them to come and rescue us. Then when they saw that we
were armed and the mob couldn’t take us, two of the police-
men started running. One ran straight to me, grabbed me on
the shoulder, and said, “Surrender your weapon! Surrender
your weapon!” I struck him in the face and knocked him back
away from the car and put my carbine in his face, and I told
him we were not going to surrender to a mob. I told him that
we didn’t intend to be lynched. The other policeman who
had run around the side of the car started to draw his re-
volver out of the holster. He was hoping to shoot me in the
back. They didn’t know that we had more than one gun. One
of the students (who was seventeen years old) put a .45 in
the policeman’s face and told him that if he pulled out his
pistol he would kill him. The policeman started putting his
gun back into the holster and backing away from the car,
and he fell into the ditch.

There was a very old man, an old white man out in the
crowd, and he started screaming and crying like a baby, and
he kept crying, and he said, “God damn, God damn, what is
this God damn country coming to that the niggers have got
guns, the niggers are armed and the police can’t even arrest
them!” He kept crying and somebody led him away through
the crowd.

Self-Defense Forces Protection

Steve Presson, who is a member of the Monroe City
Council, came along and told the chief of police to open the
highway and get us out of there. The chief of police told
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the City Councilman, “But they’ve got guns!” Presson said,
“That’s OK. Open the highway up and get them out of here!”
They opened the highway and the man from the City Council
led us through. All along the highway for almost a third of a
mile people were lined on both sides of the road. And they
were screaming “Kill the niggers! Kill the niggers! We aren’t
having any integration here! We're not going to swim with
niggers!”

By the time we got to the pool the other students who
had gone on had already started the picket line. There were
three or four thousand white people milling around the pool.
All the city officials were there, including the Mayor of Mon-
roe. They had dark glasses on and they were standing in the
crowd, which kept screaming. Then the chief of police came
up to me and said, “Surrender your gun.” I told him that I
was not going to surrender any gun, that the guns were legal,
and that the mob was dangerous; if he wanted those guns he
could come to my house and get them after I got away from
there. Then he said, “Well, if you hurt any of these white
people here, God damn it, I'm going to kill you!” I don’t know
what made him think that I was going to let him live long
enough to shoot me. He kept saying, “Surrender the gun!”
while the white people kept screaming.

The City Councilman reappeared and said that the ten-
sion was bad and that there was a chance that somebody
would be hurt. He conceded that I had a right to picket and
he said that if | were willing to go home he would see that I
was escorted. | asked him who was going to escort us home.
He said “the police.” I told him that I might as well go with
the Ku Klux Klan as go with them. I said I would go with the
police department under one condition. He asked what that
was. | told him I would take one of the students out of my
car and let them put a policeman in there and then I could
rest assured that they would protect us. And the police said
they couldn’t do that. They couldn’t do that because they
realized that this policeman would get hurt if they joined in
with the mob.

The officials kept repeating how the crowd was getting
out of hand; somebody would get hurt. I told them that I
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wasn’t going to leave until they cleared the highway. I also
told them that if necessary we would make our stand right
there. Finally they asked me what did I suggest they do, and
I recommended they contact the state police. So they con-
tacted the state police and an old corporal and a young man
came; just two state patrolmen. Three or four thousand peo-
ple were out there, and the city had twenty-one policemen
present who claimed they couldn’t keep order.

The old man started cursing and told the people to
move back, to spread out and to move out of there. And he
started swinging a stick. Some of the mob started cursing
and he said, “God damn it, | mean it. Move out.” They got
the message and suddenly the crowd was broken up and
dispersed. The officials and state police knew that if they
allowed the mob to attack us, a lot of people were going to
be killed and some of those people would be white.

Two police cars escorted us out; one in front and one
behind. This was the first time this had ever been done. And
some of the white people started screaming ‘‘Look how they
are protecting niggers! Look how they are taking niggers out
of here!”

As a result of our stand and our willingness to fight, the
state of North Carolina had enforced law and order. Just two
state troopers did the job and no one got hurt in a situation
where normally (in the South) a lot of Negro blood would
have flowed. The city closed the pool for the rest of the year
and we withdrew our picket line.

This was not the end of the story of our struggle in
Monroe in 1961. By a quirk of fate the next episode involved
the Freedom Riders and their policy of passive resistance.
The contrast between the results of their policy and the re-
sults of our policy of self-defense is a dramatic object lesson
for all Negroes. But before I go on to that I have to describe
how our policy of self-defense developed and how the Negro
community in Monroe came to support my conclusion that
we had to “meet violence with violence.”

The story begins in 1955 when, as a veteran of the U.S.
Marine Corps, I returned to my home town of Monroe and
joined the local chapter of the NAACP.
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My home town is Monroe, North Carolina. It has a popu-
lation of 11,000, about a quarter of which is Negro. It is a
county seat (Union County) and is 14 miles from the South
Carolina border. Its spirit is closer to that of South Carolina
than to the liberal atmosphere of Chapel Hill which people
tend to associate with North Carolina. There are no trade
unions in our county and the southeastern regional head-
quarters of the Ku Klux Klan is in Monroe.

There was also, at the time of my return from the Ma-
rines, a small and dwindling chapter of the NAACP. The
Union County NAACP was a typical Southern branch—small,
not very active, dominated by and largely composed of the
upper crust of the black community—professionals, busi-
nessmen and white-collar workers.

Before the Supreme Court desegregation decision of
1954, the NAACP was not a primary target of segregationists.
In many places in the South, including Monroe, racists were
not too concerned with the small local chapters. But the Su-
preme Court Decision drastically altered this casual attitude.
The Ku Klux Klan and the White Citizens Councils made it
their business to locate any NAACP chapter in their vicinity
and to find out who its officers and members were. Threats
of violence and economic sanctions were applied to make
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people withdraw their membership. Chapters, already small,
dwindled rapidly.

A Veteran Returns Home

When I got out of the Marine Corps, I knew I wanted to
go home and join the NAACP. In the Marines I had got a taste
of discrimination and had some run-ins that got me into the
guardhouse. When I joined the local chapter of the NAACP it
was going down in membership, and when it was down to
six, the leadership proposed dissolving it. When I objected,
I was elected president and they withdrew, except for Dr.
Albert E. Perry. Dr. Perry was a newcomer who had settled
in Monroe and built up a very successful practice. He be-
came our vice-president. [ tried to get former members back
without success and finally I realized that I would have to
work without the social leaders of the community.

At this time I was inexperienced. Before going into the
Marines | had left Monroe for a time and worked in an air-
craft factory in New Jersey and an auto factory in Detroit.
Without knowing it, I had picked up some ideas of organizing
from the activities around me, but I had never served in a
union local and I lacked organizing experience. But I am an
active person and I hated to give up on something as impor-
tant as the NAACP.

So one day I walked into a Negro poolroom in our town,
interrupted a game by putting NAACP literature on the table
and made a pitch. I recruited half of those present. This got
our chapter off to a new start. We began a recruiting drive
among laborers, farmers, domestic workers, the unem-
ployed and any and all Negro people in the area. We ended
up with a chapter that was unique in the whole NAACP be-
cause of working class composition and a leadership that
was not middle class. Most important, we had a strong rep-
resentation of returned veterans who were very militant and
who didn’t scare easy. We started a struggle in Monroe and
Union County to integrate public facilities and we had the
support of a Unitarian group of white people. In 1957, with-
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out any friction at all, we integrated the public library. It
shocked us that in other Southern states, particularly Vir-
ginia, Negroes encountered such violence in trying to inte-
grate libraries.

We moved on to win better rights for Negroes: eco-
nomic rights, the right of education and the right of equal
protection under the law. We rapidly got the reputation of
being the most militant branch of the NAACP. Obviously we
couldn’t get this reputation without antagonizing the racists
who are trying to prevent Afro-Americans from enjoying
their inalienable human rights as Americans. Specifically, we
aroused the wrath of the Ku Klux Klan and a showdown de-
veloped over the integration of the swimming pool.

The Ku Klux Klan Swings into Action

As | explained in the last chapter, the swimming pool
had been built with Federal funds under the WPA system and
was supported by municipal taxation. Yet Negroes could not
use it. Neither the Federal government nor the local officials
had provided any swimming facilities for Negroes. Over a
period of years several of our children had drowned while
swimming in unsupervised swimming holes. When we lost
another child in 1956 we started a drive to obtain swimming
facilities for Negroes, especially for our children.

First, we asked the city officials to build a pool in the
Negro community. This would have been a segregated pool,
but we asked for this because we were merely interested
in safe facilities for the children. The city officials said they
couldn’'t comply with this request because it would be too
expensive and they didn’t have the money. Then, in a com-
promise move, we asked that they set aside one or two days
out of each week when the segregated pool would be re-
served for Negro children. They said that this too would be
too expensive. Why would it be too expensive, we asked.
Because, they said, each time the colored people used the
pool they would have to drain the water and refill it.

They said they would eventually build us a pool when
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they got the funds. We asked them when we could expect it.
One year? They said “No.” Five years? They said “No,” they
couldn’t be sure. Ten years? They said that they couldn’t be
sure. Finally we asked if we could expect it within fifteen
years and they said that they couldn’t give us any definite
promise.

There was a white Catholic priest in the community
who owned a station wagon. He would transport the colored
youth to Charlotte, N.C., which was twenty-five miles away,
so they could swim there in the Negro pool. Some of the city
officials of Charlotte saw this priest swimming in the Negro
pool and they wanted to know who he was. The Negro super-
visor explained that he was a priest. The city officials replied
they didn’t care whether he was a priest or not, that he was
white and they had segregation of the races in Charlotte. So
they barred the priest from the colored pool.

Again the children didn’t have any safe place to swim
at all—so we decided to take legal action against the Monroe
pool.

First, we started a campaign of stand-ins of short dura-
tion. We would go stand for a few minutes and ask to be
admitted and never get admitted. While we were preparing
the groundwork for possible court proceedings, the Ku Klux
Klan came out in the open. The press started to carry arti-
cles about the Klan activities. In the beginning they men-
tioned that a few hundred people would gather in open fields
and have their Klan rallies. Then the numbers kept going up.
The numbers went up to 3,000, 4,000, 5,000. Finally the Mon-
roe Enquirer estimated that 7,500 Klansmen had gathered in
a field to discuss dealing with the integrationists, described
by the Klan as the “Communist-Inspired-National-Associa-
tion-for-the-Advancement-of-Colored-People.” They started
a campaign to get rid of us, to drive us out of the community,
directed primarily at Dr. Albert E. Perry, our vice-president,
and myself.

The Klan started by circulating a petition. To gather sig-
natures they set up a table in the county courthouse square
in Monroe. The petition stated that Dr. Perry and I should be
permanently driven out of Union County because we were
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members and officials of the Communist-NAACP. The Klan
claimed 3,000 signatures in the first week. In the following
week they claimed 3,000 more. They had no basis for any
legal action, but they had hoped to frighten us out of town
by virtue of sheer numbers. In the history of the South in
days past, it was enough to know that so many people
wanted to get rid of a Negro to make him take off by himself.
One must remember that in this community where the press
estimated that there were 7,500 Klan supporters, the popula-
tion of the town was only about 12,000 people. Actually,
many of the Klan people came in from South Carolina, Mon-
roe being only fourteen miles from the state border.

When they discovered that this could not intimidate us,
they decided to take direct action. After their rallies they
would drive through our community in motorcades and
honk their horns and fire pistols from the car windows. On
one occasion, they caught a colored woman on an isolated
street corner and made her dance at pistol point.

At this outbreak of violence against our Negro commu-
nity, a group of pacifist ministers went to the city officials
and asked that the Klan be prohibited from forming these
motorcades to parade through Monroe. The officials of the
county and the city rejected their request on the grounds
that the Klan was a legal organization having as much consti-
tutional right to organize as the NAACP.

Self-Defense Is Born of Our Plight

Since the city officials wouldn’t stop the Klan, we de-
cided to stop the Klan ourselves. We started this action out
of the need for defense because law and order had com-
pletely vanished; because there was no such thing as a 14th
Amendment to the United States Constitution in Monroe,
N.C. The Local officials refused to enforce law and order and
when we turned to Federal and state officials to enforce law
and order they either refused or ignored our appeals.

Luther Hodges, who is now Secretary of Commerce,
was the Governor of North Carolina at that time. We first
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Robert coaching wife Mabel on firearm use and gun safety in
Cuba, ca. 1962.

Arms in Perry living room in Monroe, North Carolina. Dr. Perry at
right; others from left to right are John H. Williams, Lorraine
Williams Garlington, and Edward Williams.
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Guards at Dr. Perry’s home with odd assembly of weapons.

appealed to him. He took sides with the Klan; they had not
broken any laws, they were not disorderly, he said. Then we
appealed to President Eisenhower but we never received a
reply to our telegrams. There was no response at all from
Washington.

So we started arming ourselves. [ wrote to the National
Rifle Association in Washington which encourages veterans
to keep in shape to defend their native land and asked for a
charter, which we got. In a year we had sixty members. We
had bought some guns too, in stores, and later a church in
the North raised money and got us better rifles. The Klan
discovered we were arming and guarding our community. In
the summer of 1957 they made one big attempt to stop us.
An armed motorcade attacked Dr. Perry’s house, which is
situated on the outskirts of the colored community. We shot
it out with the Klan and repelled their attack and the Klan
didn’t have any more stomach for this type of fight. They
stopped raiding our community. After this clash the same
city officials who said the Klan had a constitutional right to
organize met in an emergency session and passed a city or-
dinance banning the Klan from Monroe without a special
permit from the police chief.
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At the time of our clash with the Klan only three Negro
publications—the Afro-American, the Norfolk Journal and
Guide, and Jet Magazine—reported the fight. Jet carried
some pictures of the self-defense guard. Our fight occurred
two weeks before the famous clash between the Indians and
the Klan. We had driven the Klan out of our county into the
Indian territory. The national press played up the Indian-
Klan fight because they didn’t consider this a great threat—
the Indians are a tiny minority and people could laugh at the
incident as a sentimental joke—but no one wanted Negroes
to get the impression that this was an accepted way to deal
with the Klan. So the white press maintained a complete
blackout about the Monroe fight.

After the Klan learned that violence wouldn’t serve
their purpose they started to use the racist courts. Dr. Perry,
our vice-president, was indicted on a trumped-up charge of
abortion. He is a Catholic physician, and one of the doctors
who had been head of the county medical department drove
forty miles to testify in Dr. Perry’s behalf, declaring that
when Dr. Perry had worked in the hospital he had refused to
file sterilization permits for the County Welfare Department
on the ground that this was contrary to his religious beliefs.
But he was convicted, sentenced to five years in prison, and
the loss of his medical license.

The Kissing Case

In October, 1958, two local colored boys, David Simp-
son, aged 7, and Hanover Thompson, aged 9, were arrested
on the charge of rape which is punishable in North Carolina
by death.

This was the famous ‘Kissing Case.” What had hap-
pened was that David and Hanover got into a game of “cow-
boys and Indians” with some white children one afternoon.
After a while, the white girls in the group suggested they
play “house.” One of the little white girls, Sissy Sutton, sat
on Hanover’s lap and suddenly recognized Hanover as her
old playmate. Hanover’s mother worked for Sissy’s mother
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- and until Hanover reached school age his mother had taken
him with her when she went to work at the Sutton house.

When this little girl discovered that Hanover was her
old playmate she kissed him on the cheek. Later on in the
afternoon she ran home and told her mother how she had
seen Hanover and how she was so happy to see him again
that she had kissed him.

Sissy’s mother got hysterical when she heard this and
called the police. Before the two boys had even gotten home
they were arrested and thrown into the county jail. If a per-
son is arrested for rape in North Carolina he is not permitted
to see anyone for a period of time while the police investi-
gate. Therefore the police didn’t notify the boys’ parents.

A few days later when we finally found out what had
happened and where the two missing boys were, we tried to
get help. But the national office of the NAACP wouldn’t have
anything to do with the case because it was a “sex case.” A
seven-year-old white girl had kissed a nine-year-old Negro
boy on the cheek and the national office didn’t want any part
of it.

The children were sent to the reformatory soon after
they were arrested. I called the civil rights lawyer, Conrad
Lynn, and he came down from New York. First thing, he went
to talk with Judge Hampton Price, who had passed sentence.

The Judge said to Lynn that he had held a “separate
but equal hearing.” Lynn asked him what he meant by a
“separate but equal hearing.” And the Judge told him how
on the morning of the trial he had called in Mrs. Sutton and
her daughter, and Mrs. Sutton had made a statement, and
they were sent home. Then in the afternoon the two Negro
mothers were summoned to the Judge, and their boys were
brought in. Then the Judge said to Lynn, “I told them what
Mrs. Sutton had told me and then since they were guilty—I
sent them up for fourteen years at the reformatory.”

The NAACP national office still wasn’t doing anything
about the case but an English reporter who was a friend of
Lynn’s visited the reformatory and sneaked out a photo-
graph of the boys, which appeared along with a story on the
front page of the Dec. 15, 1958, London News Chronicle. Then
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all of Europe got wind of the case and there were protest
demonstrations in London, Rotterdam, Rome, and Paris.
Only then did many American newspapers begin to express
“concern” about the “Kissing Case.”

At the end of December, 1958, Dr. Perry, Conrad Lynn,
and I were called to New York by Roy Wilkins and he offered
me a job in Detroit if I'd leave Monroe. I flatly refused his
offer.

By now so much pressure was building up abroad and
even in the U.S.A. that the NAACP national office entered the
case—this case that had until now involved such dreadful
sexual implications. In late January there was a hearing, but
the children were sent back to the reformatory. Meanwhile,
world pressure was mounting. An example is that of the peti-
tion signed by the 15,000 students and faculty at a Rotter-
dam, Holland, high school named after Franklin Delano
Roosevelt. The petition called for the release of the children
and it was sent to Mrs. Roosevelt.

Somebody said something, finally, to President Eisen-
hower, and finally he said something to our then Governor
Hodges, and on Feb. 13, 1959, the children were released.

“We Will Meet Violence with Violence”

In 1969 Mrs. Georgia White, a Negro mother of five chil-
dren who worked in a Monroe hotel as a maid, was kicked
down a flight of stairs into the lobby of the hotel by a white
guest. He said he kicked Mrs. White down a flight of stairs
because she had been making too much noise while working
in the corridor and had disturbed his sleep. When we asked
for an indictment, the chief of police, A. A. Mauney, refused
our request. Finally when we threatened to take legal action
by bringing in NAACP lawyers, he relented and placed this
man under a $75 bond. Even though this white defendant
subsequently failed to appear in court for his trial, he was
not convicted.

That same day there was another colored woman in
court, Mrs. Mary Ruth Reid. Mrs. Reid was eight months
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pregnant. She was the victim of an attempted rape by a white
man who came to her house, drove her from her house, and
then beat her. He caught her while she was trying to escape
down the main highway and knocked her to the ground. Mrs.
Reid’s six-year-old boy was running along the side and when
the white rapist beat his mother the boy picked up a stick
and started hitting the man over the head with it while his
mother escaped. She went to a neighbor’s house and her
neighbor called the police and gave her aid. The neighbor
was a white woman and she came to court that day with Mrs.
Reid. She came and testified that she had seen the defendant
chasing Mrs. Reid and that Mrs. Reid had come to her house
in an excited and hysterical state, without shoes, and with
her clothes torn from her. This testimony required consider-
able courage on the part of Mrs. Reid’s white neighbor.

During the trial the defense attorney arranged for the
defendant’s wife to sit at his side as if she were also involved
in the case. Then the defense attorney appealed to the jury.
He said, “Judge, Your Honor, and ladies and gentlemen of
the jury, you see this man. This is his wife. This woman, this
white woman is the pure flower of life. She is one of God’s
lovely creatures, a pure flower. And do you think this man
would have left this pure flower for that?”” And he made it
appear as if the colored woman was actually on trial. Then
the defense ended by saying, “It’s just a matter of whether
or not you're going to believe this woman or this white man.
Judge, Your Honor, this man is not guilty of any crime. He
was just drinking and having a little fun.” The man was ac-
quitted.

Mrs. Reid had several brothers who had wanted to kill
her white attacker before the trial began. But I persuaded
them not to do anything. I said that this was a matter that
would be handled legally, that we would get a lawyer—which
we did. We brought a lawyer all the way from New York who
wasn’t even allowed to take the floor in court. So I was re-
sponsible for this would-be rapist not being punished.

The courtroom was full of colored women and when
this man was acquitted they turned to me and said, “Now
what are you going to do? You have opened the floodgates
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on us. Now these people know that they can do anything
that they want to us and there is no prospect of punishment
under law and it means that we have been exposed to these
people and you’re responsible for it. Now what are you going
to say?” I told them that in a civilized society the law is a
deterrent against the strong who would take advantage of
the weak, but the South is not a civilized society; the South
is a social jungle. So in cases like this we have to revert to
the law of the jungle; it had become necessary for us to cre-
ate our own deterrent. I said that in the future we would
defend our women and children, our homes and ourselves
with our arms. That we would meet violence with violence.

My statement was reprinted all over the United States.
What I had said was, “This demonstration today shows that
the Negro in the South cannot expect justice in the courts.
He must convict his attackers on the spot. He must meet
violence with violence, lynching with lynching.”

The next day in an interview with the Carolina Times |
again pointed to the lack of protection from the courts. I
said, “These court decisions open the way to violence. I do
not mean that Negroes should go out and attempt to get re-
venge for mistreatments or injustices . ..” I made this state-
ment again on the same day over a Cincinnati radio station.
Later that evening in a telecast interview in Charlotte I again
made clear that | was speaking of self-defense when the
courts fail to protect us.

Since the principle is so obvious, I couldn’t understand
the commotion my statement aroused or why it should re-
ceive so much national publicity. Two years previously,
when we had shot up the Ku Klux Klan in self-defense, not a
single white newspaper in America reported the incident.
We were only serving notice that we would do more of the
same, that Negro self-defense was here to stay in Monroe. So
I didn’t feel we were doing anything new. I realize now that
we were establishing a principle, born out of our experience,
which could, and would, set an example to others.

Looking back, it is clear that racists made a big error in
publicizing our stand. Even though it has caused me and my
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family a great deal of suffering, the result has been to force
a debate on the issue. It also shook up the NAACP consider-
ably out of its timid attitudes and forced an official reaffir-
mation from the NAACP of the right of Negroes to self-
defense against racist violence.
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The Struggle for Militancy
in the NAACP
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Until my statement hit the national newspapers the na-
tional office of the NAACP had paid little attention to us. We
had received little help from them in our struggles and our
hour of need. Now they lost no time. The very next morning
I received a long distance telephone call from the national
office wanting to know if | had been quoted correctly. I told
them that I had. They said the NAACP was not an organiza-
tion of violence. I explained that I knew that it was not an
organization of violence. They said that | had made violent
statements. [ replied that | made these statements as Robert
Williams, not as the National Association for the Advance-
ment of Colored People. They said that because I was an
official of the organization anything that I said would be con-
sidered NAACP policy, that we were too close together. |
asked them why if we were so close together they hadn’t
come to my rescue all this time when | had been the unem-
ployed victim of the Klan’s economic pressure and when |
had had all of my insurance canceled as a poor insurance
risk. | asked them why they didn’t then consider our close-
ness.

Suspension, Distortion and Re-election

In the next few hours Roy Wilkins of the NAACP sus-
pended me from office. | didn’t learn about it from the na-
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tional office. I first heard of it when Southern radio stations
announced and kept repeating every thirty minutes that the
NAACP had suspended me for advocating violence because
this was not a means for the solution of the race problem
and that the NAACP was against Negroes using violence as a
means of self-defense.

Our Union County NAACP was one of the few interracial
branches in the South. We had some white pacifist members,
and when I was suspended they sent a telegram to the na-
tional office stating that they were white Southerners and
that they were pacifists, but they protested my suspension
on the ground that they understood the problems in the
community and that the national office did not. This tele-
gram was never made public by the NAACP. And not a single
paper ever printed the fact that ours was an interracial
branch and that even Southern white pacifists supported my
position.

Nevertheless, this all developed into a national debate.
We found out that there was no provision in the NAACP con-
sititution to justify or authorize this hypocritical action by
Roy Wilkins. I demanded some sort of hearing. Wilkins
turned the matter over to the NAACP’s paternalistic Commit-
tee on Branches, and in New York City on June 3, 1959, they
conducted what turned out to be a trial where I fought the
suspension. The committee ruled that I was to be suspended
for six months’ time, after which I would automatically be
reinstated.

I didn’t think of doing anything more about the suspen-
sion; there was a more important matter at hand. As a result
of the trial | was more convinced than ever that one of our
greatest and most immediate needs was better communica-
tion within the race. The real Afro-American struggle was
merely a disjointed network of pockets of resistance and the
shameful thing about it was that Negroes were relying upon
the white man’s inaccurate reports as their sources of infor-
mation about these isolated struggles. I went home and con-
centrated all of my efforts into developing a newsletter that
would in accurate and no uncertain terms inform both Ne-
groes and whites of Afro-American liberation struggles tak-
ing place in the United States and about the particular
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struggle we were constantly fighting in Monroe. The first
Issue of The Crusader came off the mimeograph machine
June 26, 1959.

Then at the last minute I decided to appeal the commit-
tee’s decision to the NAACP’s 50th National Convention
which was meeting in New York that July. The national office
found it necessary to issue a special convention pamphlet
attacking me. This pamphlet tried to confuse my demand
that Negroes meet violence with violence as a means of self-
defense with the advocacy of lynch law. In its own way the
national office contributed to the erroneous impression
played up by the racist press that I was agitating for race
war and the indiscriminate slaughter of white people.

My suspension was upheld by the convention dele-
gates, many of whom either felt or were pressured into
seeing the vote as a question of publicly supporting or dis-
avowing the NAACP national leadership. But on the real
issue at hand, delegate sentiment forced the national leader-
ship to support the concept of self-defense. The preamble to
the resolutions passed by that convention read, *. .. we do
not deny but reaffirm the right of an individual and collective
self-defense against unlawful assaults.”

While I was suspended, the people in my branch voted
to make my wife president to serve in my place. And at the
end of the six months, instead of going back into office auto-
matically, I held an election because I didn’t want the NAACP
national office to think that they were doing me any special
favor. We had the election and I was re-elected unanimously.

The national office of the NAACP was determined to
keep within the good graces of a lot of the influential North-
ern whites who were disturbed by our militancy. They main-
tained an indifferent attitude to our branch. We had a
charter and that was all. We were unable to secure assis-
tance from them in any of our school integration cases and
our sit-in cases.

In 1960 we started a sit-in campaign. We became the
thirteenth town in North Carolina to start sit-in demonstra-
tions. Though the NAACP wasn’t taking notice, our sit-ins
proved that self-defense and non-violence could be success-
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fully combined. There was less violence in the Monroe sit-
ins than in any other sit-ins in the South. In other communi-
ties there were Negroes who had their skulls fractured, but
not a single demonstrator was even spat upon during our
sit-ins. We had less violence because we had shown the will-
ingness and readiness to fight and defend ourselves. We
didn’t appear on the streets of Monroe as beggars depending
upon the charity and generosity of white supremacists. We
appeared as people with strength, and it was to the mutual
advantage of all parties concerned that peacetul relations be
maintained.

While the demonstrations were taking place I was ar-
rested and finally sentenced to serve thirty days on the
chain gang. The NAACP was supposed to handle my case.
They handled it up to the State Supreme Court, but then they
dropped my case from appeal without telling me and with
only a few days left in which to file an appeal. I discovered
this through the newspapers because my case had been con-
solidated with that of seven students from Chapel Hill, N.C.
The newspapers listed the names of the defendants whose
NAACP lawyers had filed appeals and I was the only one in
the group whose name did not appear. | appealed to the
Emergency Civil Liberties Committee. They took my case up
and filed an appeal to the U.S. Supreme Court.

“A Letter from De Boss”’

All this did not mean that the NAACP national office
was short on advice. While they did not feel responsible
enough to take the appeal to higher courts, they did feel
responsible enough to send me a letter upon my return from
Cuba in the summer of 1960. I subsequently made two trips
to Cuba.

My experiences in Monroe and with the NAACP which
had resulted in launching The Crusader were also sharpening
my awareness of the struggles of Negroes in every part of
the world, how they were treated, their victories and their
defeats. It was clear from the first days that Afro-Cubans
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were part of the Cuban revolution on a basis of complete
equality and my trips confirmed this fact. A Negro, for exam-
ple, was head of the Cuban armed forces and no one could
hide that fact from us here in America. To me this revolution
was a real thing, not one of those phony South American
palace revolutions. There was a real drive to bring social
justice to all the Cubans, including the black ones. Beginning
late in 1959 [ had begun to run factual articles about Cuba in
The Crusader, pointing up the racial equality that existed
there. The articles seem to have stirred up the national office
for they sent me a letter which included statements such as
these:

... I'wonder, however, whether you are fully aware of
the dangers and disadvantages of the course of action you
seem to favor. | have followed closely the events in Cuba in
recent months and in particular, Dr. Castro’s visit to the
United Nations this fall. Regardless of the merits of the
Cuban cause [ was greatly disturbed by the frequent show of
insincerity which, I believe, should give you food for thought
before you find yourself used as just another pawn in the
present unfortunate feud between Cuba and our country.

“... It is a callous interference in a native American
problem and should be recognized as such by anyone in a
responsible position of leadership in the American Negro
movement.

“. .. the present Cuban attempts to endear themselves
to American Negroes are obviously caused by ulterior mo-
tives. (Let me just ask you how the American Negro tourist
would feel in Cuba at the constant chant of ‘Cuba si, Yanqui
no!")

“. .. Are you willing to forsake the important support
of that section of the people who are equally opposed to
suppression of Negro rights in our country?

“.. . Does not the unfortunate example of the great
American Negro singer Paul Robeson show you the dangers
and mistakes of the road which you seem to be choosing?
What has Paul Robeson with all his greatness done for the
American Negro in his present struggle for equality: The an-
swer, regrettable as it is, must be: Nothing.”
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These excerpts were reprinted in The Crusader and re-
plied to in this way:

“Only a fool or a mercenary hypocrite could muster the
gall to call a nation and its great leader insincere in dealing
with the captive blacks of North America when in the course
of their daily lives they display the greatest measure of racial
equality and social justice in the world today. It is certainly
a first magnitude truism that social justice starts at home
and spreads abroad. In past months I have twice been to
Cuba and there is nothing insincere about my being made to
feel that | was a member of the human race for the first time
in my life. If this is America’s idea of insincerity, then heaven
help this nation to become insincere like Fidel Castro and
Free Cuba in granting persons of African descent entrance
into the human race.

“As for my being ‘used as a pawn in the struggle of
Cuba’ against imperialist and racist North America, [ prefer
to be on the side of right than on the side of Jim Crow and
oppression. [ prefer to be used as an instrument to convey
the truth of a people who respect the rights of man, rather
than to be used as an Uncle Tom whitewasher of black op-
pression and injustice and an apologist for Anierica’s hypoc-
risy. Cuba’s aversion for America’s inhumanity to man is not
an interference in a ‘native American problem.’ It is common
knowledge that the master race of the ‘free world’ is out to
export North American manufactured racism. Racism in the
U.S.A. is as much a world problem as was Nazism. If the
U.S.A. is to be the only nation exempt from the Human Rights
Charter of the United Nations, then that august body is a
party to the great transgressions against America’s captive
people. |, for one, refuse to remain silent and cooperate with
the very force that is seeking after my destruction.

“The racists in America are the most brutal people on
earth. It is foolhardy for an oppressed Afro-American to take
the attitude that we should keep this life-death struggle a
family affair. We are the oppressed, it is only natural for us
to air our grievances at home and abroad. This race fight in
the U.S.A. is no more a fight to be fought just by Americans
than is the fight for black liberation to be conducted by col-
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ored only. Any struggle for freedom in the world today af-
fects the stability of the whole society of man. Why would
you make our struggle an exception?

“I'am not afraid of alienating white friends of our libera-
tion movement. If they really believe in freedom they will not
resent deviation from the old worn path that has led us in
fruitless circles. If they are insincere they are no more than
Trojan horses infiltrating our ranks to strike us a treacher-
ous, nefarious blow on behalf of those and that which they
pretend to detest. For if they resent our becoming truly liber-
ated, they will detest us for not following their misguidance
and skillful subterfuge designed to prevent our arrival to the
promised land. They speak much of tolerance, but they dis-
play unlimited intolerance toward those Afro-Americans
who refuse to become their puppets and yes-man Uncle
Toms.

“It is strange that | am asked how a ‘Negro’ American
tourist would feel in Cuba hearing the constant chant of
‘Cuba Si, Yanqui No!” No one has bothered to ask how it feels
to constantly face ‘White Only’ signs. These signs mean
‘White yes, Colored no!” No one has asked me how it feels to
be marched under guard with felons along a public street to
jail for sitting on a ‘white only’ stool. On hearing ‘Cuba Si,
Yanqui No!" and having lived all of my life under American
oppression, | was emotionally moved to join the liberation
chorus. I knew it didn’t apply to me because the white Chris-
tians of the ‘free world’ have excluded me from everything
‘yanqui.’

“You make a cardinal mistake when you fail to give the
great Paul Robeson credit for making a great contribution to
the American ‘Negro’ struggle. Paul Robeson is living proof
that the Afro-American need not look upon the United States
as ‘Nigger heaven’ and the last stop for us on this earth.
Paul is living proof that other civilized societies honor and
respect black people for the things that ‘Free America’
curses, oppresses and starves for. Paul has proven that all
black men are not for sale for thirty pieces of silver. He has
lit a candle that many of the new generation will follow.

“Yes, wherever there is oppression in the world today,
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it is the concern of the entire race. My cause is the same as
the Asians against the imperialist. It is the same as the Afri-
can against the white savage. It is the same as Cuba against
the white supremacist imperialist. When I become a part of
the mainstream of American life, based on universal justice,
then and then only can I see a possible mutual cause for
unity against outside interference.”

I don’t want to leave the impression that I am against
the NAACP; on the contrary I think it’s an important weapon
in the freedom struggle and I want to strengthen it. I don’t
think they should be worrying about Cuba when there is
plenty to worry about in our country. They know, as I know,
the extent to which the state governments and the Federal
government ignored our appeals for help and protection.

Hypocrisy and Run-around

After we closed the pool, as I've already described, the
racists in Monroe went wild. On that same day, after we had
gone home, a mob dragged a colored man from his car and
took him out into the woods where they beat him, stood him
up against a tree and threatened to shoot him. I had called
the Associated Press and the UPI and reported that this man
had been kidnapped and I also called the Justice Depart-
ment. Apparently just when this man’s attackers were get-
ting ready to shoot him, the chief of police came out and
rescued him. How did the chief of police know where to find
him in the woods? Later on this Negro was unable to indict
anyone who had attacked him even though he recognized
some of the members of the would-be lynch mob. The FBI
refused to demand any indictments for kidnapping.

The racists would come through the colored commu-
nity at night and fire guns and we had an exchange of gunfire
on a number of occasions. One night an armed attack was
led on my house by a sergeant of the State National Guard.
He was recognized, but no action was taken against him. And
the chief of police denied that an attack had taken place. We
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kept appealing to the Federal government. It was necessary
to keep a guard of about twenty volunteers going every
night—men who volunteered to sleep at my house and to
walk guard. This was the only way that we could ward off
attacks by the racists. The telephone would ring around the
clock, sometimes every fifteen minutes, with threatening
calls.

Then through my newsletter, The Crusader, | started ap-
pealing to readers everywhere to protest to the U.S. govern-
ment, to the U.S. Justice Department; to protest the fact that
the 14th Amendment did not exist in Monroe and that the
city officials, the local bureau of the FBI in Charlotte, and the
Governor of the state of North Carolina were in a conspiracy
to deny Monroe Negroes their Constitutional rights.

One of the readers of The Crusader wrote to Congress-
man Kowalski of Connecticut, who in turn wrote a letter to
the Attorney General, Robert Kennedy. He said that he had
been appalled to learn about the lawlessness in Monroe, and
how this was damaging to our country at a time when the
United States was claiming to be a champion of democracy
in the world. The Congressman asked for an investigation.
But despite all those letters and telegrams to the U.S. Justice
Department, no investigation was made. The only investiga-
tion they made was to ask our chief of police if these things
were true. The chief of police assured them that they were
not.

Finally I went to the Charlotte bureau of the FBI and
filed a long report calling for a Federal indictment of the
chief of police for denying citizens their rights guaranteed
by the 14th Amendment. This report was filed, but I never
heard from the FBI. Later a newspaperman told me that he
had heard from the Justice Department and that they
claimed they could find no evidence of any violation of the
14th Amendment in Monroe. They never did bother to an-
swer me.

Yet it was at this time that | received a letter from the
United States Department of State. In this letter they denied
my family and me the right to travel to Cuba, where we had
been invited for the 26th of July celebration. The grounds
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for their refusal were: “because of the break in diplomatic
relations between the United States and Cuba, the govern-
ment of the United States cannot extend normal protective
services to its citizens visiting Cuba.”

This false pretense of being interested in protecting me
was a farce of the first magnitude and classic hypocrisy. Nu-
merous threats and four attempts of murder had been made
on my life in the preceding three weeks and the would-be
assassins, aided and abetted by local officials, were offered
immunity from law by the deliberate silence of Federal offi-
cials to whom I had continuously appealed for “‘normal pro-
tective services.” The Federal government couldn’t possibly
have been interested in protection for me and my family, for
they passed up many opportunities to protect us here at
home.

This all happened a month before [ was forced to leave
Monroe.
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Non-Violence Emboidens the
Racistst A Week of Terror
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In our branch of the NAACP there was a general feeling
that we were in a deep and bitter struggle against racists
and that we needed to involve as many Negroes as possible
and to make the struggle as meaningful as possible. We felt
that the single issue of the swimming pool was too narrow
for our needs, that what we needed was a broad program
with special attention to jobs, welfare, and other economic
needs.

I think this was an important step forward. The strug-
gles of the Freedom Riders and the Sit-In Movements have
concentrated on a single goal: the right to eat at a lunch
counter, the right to sit anywhere on a bus. These are impor-
tant rights because their denial is a direct personal assault
on a Negro’s dignity. It is important for the racists to main-
tain these peripheral forms of segregation. They establish an
atmosphere that supports a system. By debasing and demor-
alizing the black man in small personal matters, the system
eats away the sense of dignity and pride which are neces-
sary to challenge a racist system. But the fundamental core
of racism is more than atmosphere—it can be measured in
dollars and cents and unemployment percentages. We there-
fore decided to present a program that ranged from the
swimming pool to jobs.
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The Monroe Program

On Aug. 15, 1961, on behalf of our Chapter I presented
to the Monroe Board of Aldermen a ten point program that
read as follows:

PETITION
We, the undersigned citizens of Monroe, petition the City
Board of Aldermen to use its influence to endeavor to:

1. Induce factories in this county to hire without discrimina-
tion.

2. Induce the local employment agency to grant non-whites
the same privileges given to whites.

3. Instruct the Welfare Agency that non-whites are entitled
to the same privileges, courtesies and consideration
given to whites.

4. Construct a swimming pool in the Winchester Avenue
area of Monroe.

5. Remove all signs in the city of Monroe designating one
area for colored and another for whites.

6. Instruct the Superintendent of Schools that he must pre-
pare to desegregate the city school no later than 1962.

7. Provide adequate trasportation for all school children.

8. Formally request the State Medical Board to permit Dr.
Albert E. Perry, Jr., to practice medicine in Monroe and
Union County.

9. Employ Negroes in skilled or supervisory capacities in
the City Government.

10. act MMEDIATELY on all of these proposals and inform the
committee and the public of your actions.
(signed)
Robert F. Williams
Albert E. Perry, Jr., M.D.
John W. McDow

Our demands for equal employment rights were the
most important of the ten points. Many plants were moving
in from the North—runaway industry from the North moving
in to avoid labor unions, seeking low-priced workers in the
South. They received considerable tax-supported conces-
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sions from the local Industrial Development Commission
and they didn’t hire any Negroes. In fact, local bigoted offi-
cials had done everything in their power to prevent Negroes
from obtaining employment. They had even gone so far as
to stipulate that the new industries could not hire Afro-
Americans if they expected the special concessions made
possible through the taxation of us all. This amounted to
taxation without representation and it was one of our big-
gest complaints.

As a result of this racist policy, out of approximately
3,000 Afro-Americans in Monroe, there are 1,000 unem-
ployed—persons unable to obtain jobs even as janitors,
maids, or porters. And maids and porters, when employed,
earn at most $15 for a six-day week. One of the few kinds of
work available, cotton picking, pays all of $2.50 for 100
pounds of picked cotton; at breakneck speed it takes a long
day, much more than eight hours, to pick 150 pounds. Virtu-
ally every Negro high school and college graduate in Monroe
has to leave to find employment. This is not true of the white
graduates. Negroes are even laid off in the summer so white
college youth can work at home. Meanwhile, each summer
our street corners are crowded with colored youths just out
of school. They have no means of gainful employment or
wholesome recreation.

For reasons such as these we believe that the basicill is
an economic ill, our being denied the right to have a decent
standard of living.

The Freedom Riders Come to Monroe

We had planned to put picket lines around the county
courthouse to draw attention to our program and to apply
pressure for its achievement. At this time seventeen Free-
dom Riders came to our support, perhaps the first time that
they engaged in a struggle over such fundamental demands
as our program presented. Hitherto, as I've said, the goals
were peripheral and while important, amenable to small
compromises. For example, we had won integration in the
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public library. On these peripheral matters, leaders of the
Sit-In Movements can meet with city and state officials and
win concessions. I believe this is an important part of the
overall Negro struggle. But when these concessions are used
for propaganda by Negro “leaders” as examples of the mar-
velous progress the Afro-American is supposedly making,
thereby shifting attention from the basic evils, such victories
cease to be even peripheral and become self-defeating.
When we tackle basic evils, however, the racists won’t give
an inch. This, I think, is why the Freedom Riders who came
to Monroe met with such naked violence and brutality. That
and the pledge of non-violence.

The Freedom Riders reflected an attitude of certain
Negro leaders who said that I had mishandled the situation
and that they would show us how to get victory without vio-
lence. With them came the Reverend Paul Brooks, sent by
the Reverend Martin Luther King, Jr., to act as a “trouble-
shooter” for the Freedom Riders, should the need arise, and
to work with the community, helping it to develop nonvio-
lent techniques and tactics. | disagreed with their position
but was more than willing to co-operate. The community
rented a house for them which was christened “Freedom
House” in their honor. They were joined by some of our mili-
tant youth who had participated in the picket lines around
the swimming pool the previous month. Together they
formed the Monroe Non-Violent Action Committee.

Although I myself would not take the non-violent oath,
I asked the people of the community to support them and
their non-violent campaign. Monroe students took the non-
violent oath, promising to adhere to the non-violent disci-
pline, which, along with other principles, prohibited self-
defense. I also stated that if they could show me any gains
won from the racists by non-violent methods, I too would
become a pacifist.

At the same time, several observers were in Monroe to
see for themselves what so-called democracy was like in
Union County. We knew that people living in other sections
of the country and other countries of the world would find
it hard to believe that such vicious racist conditions, such

41



NEGROES WITH GUNS

brutality and ruthlessness, existed in the United States espe-
cially in such a “progressive” Southern state as North Caro-
lina was supposed to be. So we encouraged these visits.
Julian Mayfield, the young Afro-American novelist and an old
friend of Monroe, was there. A young exchange student, Con-
stance Lever of Durham, England, was a guest at our house
along with Mrs. Mae Mallory, who had been active in the
movement for true integration in her own city, New York.

When the Monroe Non-Violent Action Committee set up
its picket line on the first day, the Freedom Riders seemed
convinced they were making real progress. One Freedom
Rider even returned from the line overjoyed. He said, “You
know, a policeman smiled at me in town today while I was
on the line.” I laughed and told him not to pay that any atten-
tion because the policeman was probably smiling at the
thought of how best to kill him. Constance, the English ex-
change student, had joined the picket line. She said, “Oh, I
don’t think these people are so bad. I just think you don’t
know how to approach them. I noticed that they looked at
me in a friendly way in town today.” I tried to explain to her
that these people were trying to win her and the others over
in the hope that they would leave Monroe. The day that
these people realized that they couldn’t win the Freedom
Riders over, they would show their true nature. A few days
later, Constance Lever was arrested by the Monroe police
and charged with “incitement to riot.”

The Racists Act by Violence

It was on the third day that the townspeople started
insulting the pickets and their politeness turned to vicious-
ness. A policeman knocked one picket to the ground and
threatened to break his camera. Another was arrested and
all the time the white crowd heckled. When one of the white
Freedom Riders smiled back at the hecklers, two of Mon-
roe’s “pure white flowers” spit in his face. Tensions contin-
ued to mount.

On the fourth day a white Freedom Rider was attacked
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on the street in town and beaten by three whites. The police
broke this up and promised to arrest the white people who
had attacked this Freedom Rider. So the Freedom Riders
kept on thinking there was a possibility that the law would
be on their side because they had publicly proclaimed them-
selves to be non-violent. I told them it was all right for them
to be pacifists but they shouldn’t proclaim this to the world
because they were just inviting full-scale violent attack. In
the past we hadn’t had any victims of the type of violence
they were beginning to experience because we had shown a
willingness to fight. We had had picket lines and sit-ins and
nobody had successfully attacked our lines. But they said
they were struggling from a moral point of view.

On Friday a white Freedom Fighter was shot in the
stomach with a high-powered air rifle as he was walking the
line. This happened right in front of the police. And that day
the city sprayed the picket line with insecticide, hoping to
drive the students away from the line. Meanwhile, the city
had passed special laws, ordering pickets to be fifteen feet
apart at all times. They had to maintain this distance; they
couldn’t be too close or too far apart. Then the police
started using the tactic of stopping one picket and when the
one behind continued walking on they would arrest him for
passing too closely behind the other. Also that afternoon, a
Negro boy, ten years old, was attacked in town by three
white men because he had been seen on the picket line.
None of the attackers was arrested.

“Ain’t You Dead Yet?”’

That night the Freedom Riders went for a ride into
Mecklenburg County across the line and stopped at a restau-
rant. There they were recognized and attacked by white rac-
ists. In the scramble one of the Freedom Riders could escape
only by running into the woods; the others had to flee in the
car, leaving him behind. We notified the Monroe city police,
our county police, the Charlotte police, and the Mecklenburg
County police that a Freedom Rider was in the woods, miss-
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ing, and the racists were trying to catch him. We were afraid
he would be lynched. We asked them to intercede. The Mon-
roe police refused. The Union County police refused.

Rev. Brooks called the Governor’s office. Governor
Terry Sanford was out, they said. But Rev. Brooks got an
opportunity to speak to the Governor’s chief aide, Hugh B.
Cannon, and complained to him about the lack of police pro-
tection for the Freedom Riders. The Governor’s aide kept
talking about Robert Williams. Rev. Brooks said he was not
calling about Robert Williams; he was calling about a missing
Freedom Rider. He said that they were pacifists, non-violent
people, and wanted police protection. The Governor’s aide,
Hugh B. Cannon, replied, “If you're a real pacifist you had
better get the hell out of Monroe, man, because there’s going
to be plenty of violence there.”

Rev. Brooks kept trying to appeal to him for police pro-
tection but finally gave up. He said, “Since you're talking
about Robert Williams so much, he’s right here. Do you want
to talk to him?” The Governor’s aide said, Yes.

Cannon and I had talked about two weeks before when
I had asked for state police protection. Instead the Governor
had sent an Uncle Tom representative named Dr. Larkins,
who is supposed to be the Governor’s troubleshooter. He
came and held a secret meeting with me to find out what it
would take to quiet things down. I gave him the ten-point
program and it shocked him. He said that it was too much,
that the demands were too high, but he would take it up with
the Governor anyway. And he said that, well, he understood
I had been undergoing economic pressure and that this was
wrong and that maybe I could get a job, that maybe the state
could help me if we just didn’t start any trouble around here.

When I called back the Governor’s office and told Hugh
B. Cannon about this bribe attempt, he replied, “You mean
to tell me that you’re not dead yet?” And I told him, “No, I'm
not dead, not yet, but when I die a lot of people may die with
me.” So he said, “Well, you may not be dead, but you're
going to get killed.” I kept telling him that we wanted protec-
tion, trying to avoid bloodshed. He said, “If you're trying to
avoid bloodshed you shouldn’t be agitating.”
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The Governor and the FBI

So this Friday night, when Rev. Paul Brooks finished
talking to Hugh B. Cannon and he said he wanted to talk to
me, | got on the phone and told him what had happened. He
said, “Well, you're getting just what you deserve down there.
You've been asking for violence, now you’re getting it.” [ told
him that I wasn’t appealing to him for myseli. ] was appealing
to him for a pacifist. And I told him, “‘Besides, 'm not appeal-
ing to you for a Negro; this happens to be a white boy who'’s
lost in the woods.” He said, “I don’t give a damn who he is.
You asked for violence and now you’re getting it, see; you're
getting just what you deserved.” So [ told him, “Do you know
one thing . . . you are the biggest fool in the whole world!”
He became infuriated and started raging on the telephone
and told me to shut up. I told him that he may be the Gover-
nor’s assistant but he couldn’t tell me to shut up. He said, “If
you don'’t stop talking to me like that I'll hang up.” And he
finally hung up. No protection came.

Each time the Freedom Riders would get ready to go on
the picket line they would call the FBI in Charlotte and ask
for protection. The FBI would say, “We're on our way.” But
they would never be there when anything happened. On Sat-
urday when the Freedom Riders were picketing in town and
the taxicabs that had been transporting them to the line had
started out to pick them up, the local white racists gathered
together and blocked the road. This meant the Freedom Rid-
ers had to walk back to the colored community which was
almost a mile away. The mob followed the Freedom Riders
along the streets, throwing stones at them and threatening
to kill them. When they came into the colored community,
the colored people who were not participating in the picket
line became very upset that our community had been in-
vaded by a mob chasing Freedom Riders. Many of the col-
ored people started stoning cars and beating back the white
racists.
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Seif-Defense Prevents a Pogrom:
Racists Endineer a
Kidnapping Frameup
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Sunday morning the chief of police and his men drove
through the county urging whites to come to town to fight
the Freedom Riders. In addition, people were coming in from
other counties and from South Carolina. An organization
called the Minute Men had brought people in.

By afternoon thousands of white racists had gathered
in town, concentrating at the courthouse square. At 4
o’clock James Forman, one of the picket captains, called my
home requesting four taxicabs within the hour. He said that
the racists were threatening to assault the line and com-
plained of police indifference. Forman was to end up in jail
with a split head one hour later.

At 4:30 the Negro cab company called to report that
they couldn’t get through to the picketers because every en-
trance into town was blocked off. Minutes later a couple of
cars driven by our people came racing into the neighbor-
hood. They had just made it in from town to report that the
mob had started to attack the picket line, shots had been
fired and the town was in the grip of a full-scale riot.

When the self-defense guard, which up to now had
stayed away from the courthouse square, heard that the
lives of the Freedom Riders and local non-violent youth were
in danger, they jumped into their cars and rode into town,
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breaking through the mob’s blockade to rescue the picket-
ers. Julian Mayfield went with them.

The white mob was already armed. The police dis-
armed some of the men attempting to rescue the Freedom
Riders and turned these additional weapons over to the
mob. Firing broke out at the picket line when the police and
the mob tried to prevent the English exchange student from
getting into one of the rescue cars driven by three armed
Negroes. The police held Negroes while white racists beat
them up. At first the victims were all Freedom Riders and the
local non-violent students, but soon Negroes were attacked
indiscriminately as the mob fanned out all over town. They
were massing for an attack against our community.

We Aim for Self-Defense

So many Freedom Riders and Negroes were arrested
that many prisoners with legitimate charges against them
were released from jail to make room. Many of these people
who came out of jail reported to me that students were
bleeding to death there without any medical attention. I
called the chief of police and told him that I had reports
that the students were not getting medical attention and that
their lives were in danger. I told him [ would give him just
thirty minutes to get medical attention for them and that if
they didn’t receive medical aid within thirty minutes, we
would march on the jail. About fifteen minutes later James
Forman called from the hospital to let me know that they
were receiving medical care. Just after that, Julian Mayfield
returned and reported that members of the white mob,
which now included some uniformed police, were near the
railroad tracks and firing down at Negroes who had fled
town. At the approach of darkness, white people started
driving through our community, shouting and screaming.
Some fired out of their cars and threw objects at people on
the streets. Many of the colored people started arming, ex-
changing guns, borrowing ammunition and forming guards
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for the night to defend the community from the mob massing
in town. On the block where I live there were about 300 peo-
ple milling around the street.

About 6 o’clock in the evening a white couple, Mr. and
Mrs. Bruce Stegall, came riding through our neighborhood.
They were recognized as people who had driven through
town the day before with a banner on their car announcing
an “Open Season On Coons.” It meant that this was killing
time.

People have asked why a racist would take his wife into
a riot-torn community like ours on that Sunday. But this is
nothing new to those who know the nature of Klan raiding.
Many Southern racists consider white women a form of insu-
lation because of the old tradition that a Negro is supposed
to be intimidated by a white woman and will not dare to
offend her. White women are taken along on Klan raids so
that if anything develops into a fight it will appear that the
Negro attacked a woman and the Klansman will of course be
her protector. Mrs. Stegall was brought along as insulation
by her husband. They were trying to see what defenses we
were preparing for that night.

The Negroes out on the street were raging. Some of
them had been beaten in town. Some of their children were
missing and some children were in jail. As soon as the Steg-
alls’ car entered our street it was recognized and stopped at
gunpoint less than a block away from my house. | was in the
house at the time receiving telephone calls from all over
town: calls from parents crying about their children who had
participated in this demonstration; calls from Negroes re-
porting that they were beaten and asking what should be
done, what action to take; calls from Negroes volunteering
to fight, Negroes offering to join in armed groups so they
could defend the community. When I wasn’t on the phone |
was out in the back of my house setting up a defense line
before nightfall.

When the Stegalls were stopped, they were taken out of
their car and brought into my yard. Someone called me out
of the house and I came out and saw all these people milling
around the Stegalls. I realized how angry these people were
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and | saw the circle closing in around the Stegalls. I knew
that if just one person lost control of himself the Stegalls
would be killed. I started driving the crowd away from them,
forcing the crowd out of reach.

Then Mrs. Stegall said, “We've been kidnapped!” She
kept repeating this. [ said, “Lady, you're not kidnapped. You
can leave when you get ready but you got to go through this
crowd and these people are angry.” She stood up and looked
at the crowd and she said, “You should take us out of here.
You could take us out. If you took us out of here they
wouldn’t bother us.” 1 said, “Lady, 1 didn’t bring you here
and I'm not going to take you away. You knew that all these
people would be here; you know how rioting has been going
on in the town and you should have known better than to
come into a place like this where the people are angry and
upset like this. We are too busy now trying to defend our
homes. I'm trying to set up a defense line and I don’t have
time to bother with you. That’s your problem.”

While we were standing there talking, an airplane flew
over us. The airplane probably was either from the Klan or
the Sheriff’'s Department. They use plenty of light planes and
we were constantly getting calls threatening to bomb us
from the air since my house was too well guarded to get us
from the ground. So when this plane swooped over the
house about fifteen men armed with high-powered .30-cali-
ber rifles opened fire. Mrs. Stegall had been very indignant
and arrogant, but as soon as she saw this she realized how
serious the situation was, that these people were angry and
really meant business. She started shaking all over and al-
most became hysterical. Then a car with white men drove
by, firing, and about twenty fellows fired back and you could
see flames where the bullets struck the car. Mrs. Stegall
could see this.

I started into the house and the crowd began screaming
that the Stegalls should be killed. When I started walking up
the front steps Mrs. Stegall was right up against me, walking
right up against my body and her husband was right up
against her. They followed me on into the house while all
these people were still screaming that they should be killed.
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One man was begging for somebody to give him a gun and
let him, please, let him kill them.

Some of the people in this crowd I had never seen be-
fore. Negroes were coming from out of the county, they were
coming from other towns or calling long-distance on the tele-
phone offering to join in the defense group that was being
formed. But all the people who had been regularly affiliated
with me and in the guard were in the back of my house be-
cause that was where we were assembling and checking out
our weapons and ammunition for the night. The street
crowd consisted of Negroes who had become angry and in-
volved. They didn’t belong to any organization, to any one
group. They were just armed private citizens who were fed
up with oppression.

I went to the telephone and my wife gave the Stegalls a
seat. When I came back the woman kept repeating, “If you'll
take us out of here we’ll be all right.” And I told her again
that I didn’t have time to take her out. I told her that if | had
been caught in her community under similar conditions I
would already be dead. I said, “You see, we are not half as
cruel as your people.” And she admitted that [ was right. She
told me that she was a church-going Christian and that she
wanted to help us and she wished there was something she
could do. And I told her that her husband could help us. And
he said he didn’t know what he could do since he wasn’t well
known around Monroe, that they lived in Marshville. She
kept saying, *‘You’re Robert Williams!” and I told her, *“Yes.”
She said, “Well, I never met you before, but I heard a lot of
talk about you.” And I said, “It was all bad.” And she said,
“Yes, I must admit that it was all bad, but you're not the type
of fellow they say you are. You seem to be a good fellow.
You're much better than I thought.”

The telephone rang again. It was the chief of police,
A. A. Mauney. He said, “Robert, you've caused a lot of race
trouble in this town, but state troopers are coming. In thirty
minutes you’ll be hanging in the courthouse square.”

He hung up. Someone else called and said there was a
news flash on television that troops were being sent to sur-
round the town. Another woman called and said that she
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saw troops moving in and that the highway patrol was park-
ing its cars behind the jailhouse. This was confirmed by a
radio flash. Then one of our fellows called me to the door. |
went out into the street and looked around. Both ends were
being blocked off by police cars. I realized they were trying
to trap me into waiting until the state troopers got there. |
told Mabel, my wife, that we had to leave. I said she didn’t
have time to take anything, just to get the children. I called
Julian Mayfield who had left just after the Stegalls followed
me in, and told him about the state troopers moving in
around my area, advising him to leave Monroe immediately
so that if something happened to me, someone would be free
to tell the world the story. Then we left.

In Flight But Not a Fugitive

Most people think that we left because we were fleeing
an indictment. But the possibility of an indictment hadn’t
even occurred to me at that time. Remember, I left Monroe
knowing I had saved the lives of the Stegalls. We were fleeing
because of the attitude of the state, because of the attitude
of the chief of police, because of the lack of law. We didn’t
learn about the indictment until we were in New York and
heard it flashed on radio and television. When we left North
Carolina we headed directly for New York. In the beginning I
thought that we would stay there; that we would stop over
in Harlem and from there we would immediately start a cam-
paign to tell the world about the ruthless racist oppression
that was taking place in Monroe. It was for this reason that I
had left North Carolina. Only from outside the state could I
organize a publicity campaign that would bring help to the
Negroes and Freedom Riders so hopelessly outnumbered in
Monroe. I had left North Carolina only after the chief of po-
lice had called me and told me that the state troopers were
coming and that in thirty minutes I would be hanging in the
court house square. | remembered the words of Hugh B. Can-
non when [ had appealed to him for protection under law for
the missing Freedom Rider. The Governor’s aide told me
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that he didn’t give a damn about anyone, that we had asked
for violence and now we were going to get it. He wanted to
know then “why I wasn’t dead yet!” I didn’t think then that
anything legal was involved.

The first | knew of the indictment was in New York when
I heard over the radio that there was an all-points alarm out
for me and that [ had been indicted for kidnapping the Steg-
alls by the Union County Grand Jury.

The FBI claims that it entered the case because I was
an indicted fugitive from justice in interstate flight to avoid
prosecution. But technically the FBI is wrong, because I left
Monroe early that night—about 9 o’clock. When the grand
jury indicted me sometime late the next day, | was already
in New York. I certainly didn’t cross the North Carolina state
line as an indicted fugitive.

But this technical error in the Federal charge that was
made against me so that [ might be “legally” hounded
throughout the whole United States is not at all surprising
when one thinks of the complete falsity of the state kidnap-
ping charge. It is very important to note what happened im-
mediately after I left Monroe. | was indicted on the testimony
of two policemen (there is no court record that the Stegalls
ever appeared before the grand jury). Then, with the war-
rant issued, my house was raided by about a hundred offi-
cials of the state, the Federal government, and the local
police armed with machine guns, rifles, riot-guns and tear
gas. They didn’t know that I had already left. They couldn’t
believe that I had got away.

When I read about the grand jury indictment in the New
York papers, it was accompanied by interviews of reporters
with Mrs. Stegall. I don’t know what Mrs. Stegall finally told
the grand jury, if she ever did appear before them. But I do
know she couldn’t keep her story straight for the reporters
and she never told the same version twice.

[ read stories in The New York Post and The New York
Times the following day reporting that when they had ques-
tioned Mrs. Stegall she said that I had chided the crowd for
kidnapping her and her husband. Yet she turned around in
the next paragraph and said that I was responsible because
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[ was the ringleader of these people. Next I read that she
claimed that they had been tied up in my house and held at
gunpoint and that when I left the house they were still there.
But after saying that they were tied up, then she turned
around and said that they were released by me unharmed
and left an hour and a half later.

Meanwhile, she was claiming various reasons for being
in the colored community in the first place. In one paper she
said they were taking a short cut. For another paper she said
that they were lost, that they didn’t know where they were
going. But no highway runs through our community. This
was a dead-end street almost a mile from the highway that
the Stegalls would use to get back to Marshville. Any person
who knew the county could not possibly get lost there. The
Stegall woman also told one reporter that the house I lived
in, the house that I was born in, had been sold to my father
by her father and that she had once lived there herself. In all
these stories it was always Mrs. Stegall doing the talking and
Mrs. Stegall’s picture that you saw. They never had Mr. Steg-
all, who was a known Klansman, saying anything.

[ also read a report where Mrs. Stegall was quoted by
the Charlotte Observer as saying ‘“that Williams only pre-
tended that he was trying to help us.” Well, how would she
know? One of the best proofs that | was helping them is the
fact that they were unharmed and still alive. And they know
this.
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The Monroe Case!
Conspiracy against the Negro
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What has happened and continues to happen in Mon-
roe, N.C,, illustrates an old truth: that words used in com-
mon by all men do not always have a meaning common to
all men. Men have engaged in life-or-death struggles because
of differences of meaning in a commonly-used word. The
white racist believes in “freedom,” he believes in “fair trial,”
he believes in “justice.” He sincerely believes in these words
and can use them with great emotion because to the white
racist they mean his freedom to deprive Negroes of their
basic human rights and his courts where a “fair trial” is that
procedure and “justice” that decision which upholds the
racist’s mad ideal of white supremacy. On many desperate
occasions when our constitutional rights were denied and
our lives were in danger, we called on the Justice Depart-
ment and the FBI to investigate the Monroe situation, to pro-
tect our lives and to restore our constitutional rights—in
other words, to administer justice. And they always refused
our request.

The Department of Justice—
“Extremely Dangerous and Schizophrenic”

The U.S. Justice Department is showing itself as abet-
ting the conspiracy in Monroe against Negroes by the Ku
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Klux Klan. After we had left Monroe the U.S. Justice Depart-
ment, in collaboration with the chief of police, A. A. Mauney,
released 250,000 “wanted” circulars. In these circulars they
describe me as ‘“‘schizophrenic.” In describing me as schizo-
phrenic they do not say who had psychoanalyzed me. Do
they mean | was analyzed as being schizophrenic by Mon-
roe’s semi-illiterate chief of police?

The Justice Department released these vicious posters
describing me as “extremely dangerous.” But they failed to
cite any substantiating facts. They failed to cite any criminal
record. They failed to cite any cases that could justify this
charge. They failed to tell what harm [ had ever done to any-
one. This was because they knew that these things were lies.
Now, how could the Justice Department of the United States
do this? How could it mean well? How could it be an impar-
tial investigative body, spreading such vicious lies through-
out the United States without any investigation of the facts,
without investigating the source of these malicious lies?

In their posters were such “facts” as that I had a scar
over my right eye, a scar to the left of my nostril and a scar
on my left leg. All of this is untrue, but these ridiculous lies
about nonexistent scars helped to create a picture of the
“razor-fighting nigger,” of someone “‘extremely dangerous.”
All this means that the U.S. Justice Department has joined
forces with the Ku Klux Klan. They were so sure that [ would
not escape that they were prematurely justifying what they
considered was going to be a legal lynching at the behest of
the United States government. They had said I would not
hesitate to shoot. This was to justify someone shooting me
if I had been taken into custody.

When 1 fled to Canada they also passed these same
posters on to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. And in
Canada, interestingly enough, they never mentioned the fact
that race incidents had occurred in North Carolina, or that
the only crime that I was guilty of was the crime of fighting
for human rights in the South. There is plenty of proof of
this. Since the sit-in demonstrations started in the South,
over 5,000 Negroes have been arrested for struggling for
their rights. Almost all of the militant leaders in the South
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have spent some time in jail for no more than asking for their
Constitutional and human rights.

The Justice Department was afraid that the Canadians,
who are not as prejudiced as white Americans, would under-
stand what this case was really all about and refuse to coop-
erate. They had to make it appear—and this is the work of
the United States government through its agency, the U.S.
Justice Department—that I was a common criminal who had
kidnapped for ransom. They created the impression that I
was hiding in Canada and was heavily armed.

Again the question is: Where did this information come
from? Did the U.S. Justice Department go to the same chief
of police that I had asked them to indict? The same chief of
police against whom I had filed an affidavit? The same chief
of police that they knew had been my enemy and the enemy
of Negroes and a friend of the Ku Klux Klan since 1956? Did
they go to a Klan-sponsored chief of police to ask him for
data on a United States civil rights fighter? Well, they most
certainly did. And this should be enough to awaken many
people to the fact that the Justice Department of the United
States is itself contaminated by racist influences.

If I had not been able to escape from the United States
[ would never have gotten to a trial, let alone a fair trial.

The Other Defendants

Mrs. Stegall reported that my home was an “armed
camp.” But the raid on my house had failed to produce any
trace of these arms or ammunition. So the police used my
disappearance as an excuse to raid through the rest of the
community; tearing up homes, terrorizing a lot of the people
who weren’t even in the defense guard, grilling in all-night
sessions persons known to be my associates, and confiscat-
ing the weapons they found—weapons we possessed legally.

The Freedom Riders who were out of jail said that al-
though I was gone they were going to carry on the struggle;
they would carry on this fight that we had started. They
made this statement to The New York Post and to The New
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York Times a day after I left. One of them was John Lowry, a
twenty-year-old white college student from New York. Two
days after he declared that the struggle would be continued
he was arrested and charged with complicity. Richard
Crowder, a local nineteen-year-old youth who had been
elected chairman of the Monroe Non-Violent Action Commit-
tee, was also indicted along with seventeen-year-old Harold
Reape. These boys had participated in the original picket
line and in the sit-in demonstration and they had shown
leadership ability in this struggle. Therefore they were in-
dicted for complicity. Mae Mallory, who left North Carolina
after the rioting started, was also charged with complicity,
but no immediate attempt was made to apprehend her.

In addition, Albert Rorie (seventeen years old) and Jim-
mie Covington (fifteen years old), two other local Negro
youth who had participated in all of these struggles, were
each charged and indicted with having shot a policeman
apiece, although the City of Monroe never could produce
more than one wounded policeman. Jimmie Covington was
committed to reform school. Albert Rorie was given five
years in prison. This case is pending on appeal to the state
Supreme Court.

Richard Griswold of Brooklyn, New York, another white
Freedom Rider arrested during the rioting on the 27th, was
beaten almost to the point of death in the Union County jail
that day by another prisoner, a white criminal being held on
forgery and assault charges. Griswold’s life was saved only
because another arrested Freedom Rider was led past the
cell in which Griswold was lying, blood-covered and semi-
conscious. The second Freedom Rider, Kenneth Shilman,
started yelling at the top of his lungs, demanding that Gris-
wold be removed from the cell before he was killed. The war-
den complied because he thought the white student would
die and then there would really be trouble.

Starting the very next day, all the different city, county,
state, and Federal law-enforcement agencies began sending
each other telegrams about how law and order had been re-
established in Monroe. And the week following the riots each
employee of the Sheriff's Department was awarded $100

57



NEGROES WITH GUNS

extra pay by the Board of County Commissioners. The bonus
was ‘“‘compensation for special services rendered during the
‘race emergencies’ in Monroe.”

Almost three weeks later The Committee to Aid The
Monroe Defendants (CAMD) received a handwritten, signed
confession from Howard Stack, the white prisoner who had
been Griswold’s cellmate. Stack admitted that he had beaten
Griswold at the behest of the Monroe police who had prom-

Handuwritten confession of Howard Stack that he beat up the
young Freedom Rider Griswold at the behest of Monroe police.
This confession was sent to the Department of Justice, which took
no action.
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ised to drop the charges against him and release him
immediately in exchange for the beating. Stack sent this con-
fession to the CAMD because two weeks after he was re-
leased he was again picked up and sentenced on the same
charges that were supposedly dropped.

Conrad Lynn forwarded the original of the confession
to Attorney General Robert Kennedy and asked for an imme-
diate investigation of the Monroe Police Department. The
Justice Department never acknowledged receiving the con-
fession. FBI agents did come around and secure depositions
and even interviewed Stack. Meanwhile, Union County au-
thorities quickly committed Stack to a mental institution and
the Justice Department notified Lynn finally that their file
was closed.

The Spectre of the Russian Rifles

Soon various newspapers in the United States began to
report statements by local police officials that when they
raided our community they discovered and seized our se-
cret armory: Russian rifles with sickle and hammer insignia.
They implied that these weapons were supplied by some
sort of ominous international Communist conspiracy. The
insinuation was that of a secret weapons cache shipped to
us directly by Moscow. This was a pure smear. They sup-
pressed the information that many of our rifles were of vari-
ous foreign makes. They failed to mention that we had
British surplus rifles with the insignia of the Crown. Why
didn’t they recognize that we were agents of the Queen, hop-
ing to restore the monarchy in America? Nor did they men-
tion our rifles of Italian manufacture. They failed to mention
that we also had German rifles with Nazi insignia. These
were World War Il weapons, Mausers. They didn’t think it
important to mention that we had such weapons. Or possi-
bly they approve of rifles with Nazi insignia. They also failed
to mention that we had surplus rifles from the United States
Army, the M-1 rifle with U.S. Army insignia. Why didn’t they
try to involve us in a conspiracy with the U.S. Army?
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They mentioned only the rifles of Russian origin in
order to smear our self-defense movement. It was a tactic to
arouse hysteria among the racists and to mislead the Ameri-
can people. It was an attempt to inject fake emotional issues
of the Cold War into our fight for survival. It was an attempt
to make the American people think that the Monroe self-
defense movement was a grave threat to their security.

The plain fact is that these rifles can be bought in army-
navy surplus stores and regular hardware stores throughout
the United States. These rifles were purchased legally, in-
cluding the Russian rifles with the hammer and sickle insig-
nia. I received signed bills of sale with the numbers of these
Russian rifles on them.

This was no special secret supply or hidden armory.
We had a rifle club with a charter from the National Rifle
Association since 1957. We were authorized to have rifles.
We did target practice. There are three other gun clubs in
Monroe, three white gun clubs. The white people even have
two segregated professional rifle ranges. But not a single
newspaper mentioned any of these facts.

Newspapers like The New York Post started crying and
sobbing hysterically about Russian rifles being found, but
they failed to mention that these rifles were bought openly
in stores in the United States. These Russian rifles were not
automatic weapons. They were the bolt-action type used for
sport and marksmanship firing and had won five out of six
trials in the Olympics of 1959. This rifle is called the 6.53 and
it is not even used in the Russian Army. The “Russian rifles”
smear was perpetrated by sensationalist journalists who
somehow didn’t see anything at all sensational when police-
men armed white thugs to attack non-violent students in
Monroe.

| have a picture taken from a recent issue of the Toronto
Star of members of the so-called U.S. Minute Men, the fascis-
tic organization that is in fellowship with the John Birch So-
ciety. The photograph shows the Minute Men in training in
the state of Illinois. Not the state of Mississippi, not the state
of Alabama or South Carolina, but the state of Illinois. These
people are equipped with machine guns and automatic ri-
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fles, including the Johnson automatic rifle, and they are fir-
ing U.S. Army 6.5-mm. mortars. They are firing these mortars
on prepared ranges and firing live ammunition. Where did
they get these mortars? Where did they get this ammuni-
tion? No surplus stores in the United States sell mortars or
live shells. Where did they get their machine guns and auto-
matic rifles, many models of which still are in use by the
United States Armed Forces? Unlike our weapons, automatic
rifles and machine guns may not be owned by civilians. This
is specified by Federal law.

These men are wearing standard steel helmets and are
dressed in surplus uniforms of the U.S. Army. The only differ-
ence is that they have their own Minute Men insignia. These
men have raised and mobilized their own private army.
Some of the 5,000 men recruited in Monroe to attack the
Freedom Riders were components of this fascistic Minute
Men organization.

Nobody was upset about this. None of these pious-
sounding newspapers, so interested in the welfare and the
security of the American people, breathed a word about Min-
ute Men being brought into Monroe. These Minute Men have
been arming and training with heavy weapons in the field.
What is the reason for this? Why has this been tolerated in
the United States? The Minute Men say that they are mobiliz-
ing to fight Communism or possible invasion of the United
States by the Communists. Wouldn’t an American be naive
indeed to believe that if the United States Marine Corps, the
Infantry, the Navy, and the Air Force couldn’t stop some sort
of invasion, how in the hell could a few old women in tennis
shoes from the John Birch Society and their corps of Minute
Men stop them?

Anyone who can think logically can see that the racist
Minute Men are being armed and prepared for pogroms.
They are becoming a fascist vanguard that will some day be
turned loose on all Afro-Americans and white Americans
who get out of line. And to get out of line means to petition
militantly for Constitutional rights. These Minute Men types
will be the people who do the dirty work. Just as there were
special units to man the gas furnaces for the Jewish people
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in Nazi Germany, so “special units” will develop to handle
“trouble-makers” in a fascist America. This must be done
outside of the jurisdiction of the armed forces because the
U.S. Armed Services are integrated. But the Minute Men or-
ganizations are not integrated. It will be like the French Army
and the O.AS. in Algeria. They will look the other way, like
the Wehrmacht and the S.S. corps in Hitler’s time. The
Armed Services of the United States, the police officials, the
Justice Department will look the other way and say, “We're
sorry, but we can’t catch these people. We're sorry, but
we've done everything we can do to prevent violence.” The
Minute Men have pure, 100 per cent, all-American weapons
and the newspapers have barely found cause to denounce
their activities.

But when the Negroes of Monroe, outnumbered and
outarmed, gallantly rose to defend their homes, their fami-
lies, and their persons, their efforts at self-defense were
scorned by the press and they were smeared with the insinu-
ation that their weapons were furnished by some insidious
Communist conspiracy.

All the American people, not just Afro-Americans, must
realize that if we had not been armed in this city of Monroe,
Union County, North Carolina last August 27, there would
have been mass bloodshed. There is only one reason why
the racist mob lost its nerve in their projected attack on the
Negro community. Knowing as they did that we were well
armed, they found it impossible to stomach the thought of
violence.

These are people who would like to do violence to oth-
ers but want to have immunity from violence themselves.
They are the people who just love it when pacifist Negroes
turn the other cheek.

Our preparations and constant armed vigilance to pro-
tect our homes from attack were completely divorced from
the campaign of the Freedom Riders and our local students
who were picketing and demonstrating on a non-violent
basis. We armed ourselves solely to defend ourselves. And if
we hadn’t been armed, we would have been the victims of
one of the first modern pogroms against the Afro-American.
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Let the newspapers wail and bemoan about our rifles with
Communist insignia. I don’t care what kind of insignias the
rifles had on them. They were a godsend to us that Sunday,
August 27, 1961.

Canada—Then Cuba

When I realized that this was no longer a local matter
and that the U.S. Government had entered into the picture
and was just as determined to destroy me as the Ku Klux
Klan, I decided that I had to leave New York and that the best
place to go would be Canada.

I felt that the Canadian people would be sympathetic. I
also remembered that Canada had been a place of refuge for
escaped Negroes using the underground railway during the
time of slavery in the United States. So [ made my way on to
Canada with my wife Mabel. [ felt secure in Canada. For a few
days I lived a normal life. I went around town shopping—
window shopping. I attended an air show and went to the
park and to the beaches. It seemed to me that [ was quite
secure. [ felt that there was a possibility that I would be able
to remain in Canada since charges against me were really
trumped up.

One morning, to my surprise, there was a huge picture
of me on the front page of a Canadian newspaper. The story
that went with the photo said that  was a vicious kidnapper
and that the Justice Department of the United States had
appealed to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police to appre-
hend me. It referred to me as a laborer and freight handler.
It didn’t mention that I was president of the Union County
branch of the National Association for the Advancement of
Colored People. Nor did it mention that I had written, edited,
and published a newsletter.

The Royal Canadian Mounted Police initiated a search
that was just as vicious and carried out just as energetically
as the FBI search. Since there were many Canadians who
realized what the race situation was in the United States and
who sympathized with me, the Royal Canadian Mounted Po-
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lice started searching homes. They even searched a church
in Toronto (and questioned the minister) where I had ap-
peared while on a speaking tour the previous summer. | de-
cided that Canada would be no safer than the United States.
I had made plans with sympathetic Canadians to fight extra-
dition proceedings if I was apprehended in Canada. They
were prepared to show that the authorities were trying to
return me to the violence, brutality, and racial oppression of
the South, and they had hired lawyers for me in Canada who
were ready to take immediate legal action in the event of my
arrest. But luckily I was able to leave Canada.

When I realized that I would not be safe in Canada, |
remembered my two trips to Cuba. I could think of no other
place in the Western Hemisphere where a Negro would be
treated as a human being, where the race problem would be
understood, and where people would not look upon me as a
criminal but as a victim of a trumped-up charge—a charge
designed to crush the militant leaders who were beginning
to form a new movement, a new militant movement designed
for the total liberation of the Afro-Americans.

Since all the eastern coast of Canada was being
watched by the FBI and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police,
I traveled across Canada to the west coast, re-entered the
United States and made my way into Mexico and from there
to Cuba. That was why I came to Cuba—because [ had no
alternative.

The Complicity of the Ohio Governor

Shortly after Cuba announced that she had granted me
political asylum, Mrs. Mae Mallory was arrested by agents of
the FBI in Cleveland, Ohio, where she had gone for asylum.
The state of North Carolina immediately requested that she
be extradited back to Union County to stand trial.

If Mrs. Mallory is extradited, she will join Lowry, Reape,
and Crowder and be tried on a yet undetermined date in a
North Carolina court, where there is no possible chance of
their obtaining justice, especially under the conditions that
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Robert F. Williams at a press conference with the Cuban Bar
Association, March 1962.

I've described. Much pressure is building up throughout the
country. Many people are preparing to protest this great
miscarriage of justice because these indictments carry life-
time sentences in prison.

When Mrs. Mallory was first arrested in Cleveland con-
siderable protest occurred in Ohio. Responding to this pres-
sure by the Afro-American community, the Rev. Martin
Luther King Jr. signed a Monroe Defense Committee petition
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THE CRUSADER

MONTHLY NEWSLETTER

ROBERT F. WILLIAMS, EpitorR —IN EXILE—
Vor. 3 — No. 8 AprPriL 1962

Truth Crushed to Earth Shall Rise Again

IT has truly been said that “truth crushed to earth shall
rise again.” True to this adage, the fighting little
CRUSADER Newsletter returns to the vanguard of the

sTop /. ;
A NO RACIST ALLOWED HERE !

CUBA: TERRITORIO LIBRE DE AMERICA

liberation struggle. Yes, it yet lives to haunt those who
thought they had destroyed it. THE CRUSADER with its
editor in exile is going to be a monthly printed journal. It
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asking Gov. Michael DiSalle not to extradite Mae Mallory.
Mrs. Mallory was granted an executive hearing and two
months later Gov. DiSalle made his decision. It was to extra-
dite Mrs. Mallory back to Monroe.

Despite thousands of petition signatures, telegrams,
and letters of protest from trade unions, civil liberties orga-
nizations, and civic groups not only in Cleveland but
throughout the country, Gov. DiSalle made this decision and
refused to reverse it. Gov. DiSalle justified his decision on
the basis of two telephone conversations with North Caroli-
na’s Gov. Terry Sanford, who “assured” Gov. DiSalle that
“Mrs. Mallory would receive a fair trial in a North Carolina
court.”

Does this great liberal Governor of Ohio really believe
Negroes can secure justice in North Carolina courts just be-
cause the Governor of that state assured him that such jus-
tice exists? North Carolina is a state where a Negro man was
convicted and sentenced to five years in prison because it
was said that he leered at a white woman, that he looked at
her too attentively. Despite the fact that he was 75 feet away,
he was still convicted in a state superior court and sen-
tenced to five years.

This is also a state where just two years ago a seven-
teen-year-old Negro girl was beaten to death in prison by a
guard because she complained about the bad prison food.
The state entered into a settlement with her parents. They
paid her parents $1,900 as a settlement for having killed their
daughter.

Evidently this is Gov. DiSalle’s concept of “assured”
justice for Negroes. Does he find even more reassuring the
instances of so-called North Carolina “justice” that have oc-
curred since the August frame-ups?

This is a state where in early fall, while Gov. DiSalle was
talking over the phone with Gov. Terry Sanford and “‘care-
fully examining the North Carolina record in administered
justice,” a young girl, a Negro teen-ager, raped by four white
men she could positively identify, was unable to obtain jus-
tice from any North Carolina law enforcement agency. When
she went to the Marshville police, the Union County sheriff’s
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office, and finally to the FBI and told them that she had been
raped, giving them the names of the men who had raped her,
all refused to do anything about it. The local FBI office re-
fused because they said this was a local matter. Then finally,
when the pressure from the Negro community threatened to
become explosive, one of the men was charged, brought to
trial, and in five minutes acquitted.

In this same state, just weeks after Gov. DiSalle made
his decision to extradite Mae Mallory, a twenty-year-old
Negro was convicted of rape and sentenced to ten to twenty
years in prison. Despite the fact that the white woman in-
volved repeatedly asserted in court that it was not he who
had raped her, the white jury brought in their verdict of
guilty. They did this because they knew that the accused
and the woman had been long-time friends—something
these people cannot tolerate.

At the same time, in this same state, North Carolina, in
this same city, Monroe, another Negro youth, held incommu-
nicado for twenty days on three trumped-up charges, was
shot in the leg by a policeman when he attempted to escape
from the dungeon cell in which he was being kept in solitary
confinement—the same cell in which Richard Griswold was
so brutally beaten. No North Carolina attorney would repre-
sent this boy, Jayvan Covington. Finally, two young Washing-
ton, D.C., lawyers volunteered their services as counsel only
a week before the trial was scheduled, but the court refused
them more time to prepare the defense. Jayvan Covington
was found guilty of three felony charges and was also con-
victed on two misdemeanors: resisting arrest—he wanted to
know what he had been arrested for—and attempted es-
cape. He was sentenced to seven to ten years on these
charges. When an appeal was filed, a $15,500 bond was sent
pending appeal. So Jayvan Covington is still in his cell and
recently has been threatened with an extra charge of “secret
assault” if he goes through with his appeal.

This is the same law, the same court that set bail at
$2,000 for a white man, a known member of the Klan, who
was charged with murder, charged with killing a Negro man
by shooting him in the back of the head. This white man

68



THE MONROE CASE: CONSPIRACY AGAINST THE NEGRO

doesn’t even deny the shooting; he claimed he had caught
the Negro peeping into a local joyhouse. A week prior to this,
another Negro was shot in the hip and is in serious condi-
tion. Yet he is in jail unable to raise the $8,000 bail while the
white man who shot him is free—claiming he shot the Negro
for attempting to break and enter, or for peeping. The Mon-
roe court hasn’t decided yet what to call it so it will sound
most believable at trial.

This is North Carolina, the state where the second high-
est official in the government expressed surprise that [ was
still alive when we appealed to him for no more than enforce-
ment of law and order. This is what Governor Sanford would
like to have Mae Mallory return to. This is the type of justice
in store for the Negro youth who are now facing trial there,
and for John Lowry.

The Mallory case reminds us once more that no Afro-
American is out of the reach of Klan justice so long as he is
on soil presided over by racists. It is an indictment of Ameri-
can justice to have a Northern state collaborate with the
South in a legal lynching. The Mallory case proves that even
a Northern state like Ohio helps the racists. Terry Sanford
knows that he can depend on a fellow Democrat like DiSalle
to return fugitive slaves.

To the World: ‘“Take Note of Monroe’’

On a date to be fixed after Mae Mallory is returned to
North Carolina, my co-defendants will be brought to trial in
a Monroe, North Carolina, courtroom. Only an aroused and
outraged world opinion can possibly save them from the
frame-up fate that the authorities have planned. Only an at-
tentive world opinion, sharply focused on that Monroe
courtroom, can possibly restrain the racist authorities.

We are asking the world to take note of Monroe, to reg-
ister its indignation and shock that a government which
proclaims itself leader of the “free world” persecutes its
freedom-fighting youth.

We have started a world-wide campaign for signatures
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to a petition which will be presented to the Human Rights
Commission of the United Nations. It demands an immediate
international investigation into the denial of human rights
in Monroe. We are asking labor organizations, human rights
committees and student organizations all over the world to
join in this protest.

Our one hope for the Monroe defendants is that the
United States will be civilized enough and responsive
enough to be mindful that the whole world is disgusted with
its treatment of the Afro-American. We hope that the pres-
sure of world resentment will force the U.S. government to
give them justice regardless of their race, regardless of their
role as freedom fighters, and regardless of their dissent in a
racist system, and that they will be restored to the decent
society of people who believe in social justice.

This is not a new tactic. World protest saved two young
boys from fourteen-year reformatory sentences in the Mon-
roe “Kissing Case.” In 1960, when the Monroe city officials
drafted an “urban renewal plan” calling for Federal “slum
clearance” funds to condemn and destroy the houses of the
colored community, we telegraphed a protest-appeal to hon-
orary NAACP member Jawaharlal Nehru, who at that mo-
ment had President Eisenhower as his guest in India. The
Federal Housing Administration subsequently refused to ap-
prove the Monroe project. In 1961, after the Cuban invasion
fiasco, when President Kennedy justified U.S. intervention
for “the cause of freedom,” we sent an open telegram (read
at the United Nations) to the President requesting equiva-
lent U.S. tanks, airplanes, artillery, machine guns, and merce-
nary troops to fight the Klan in North Carolina.

The only difference now is that we will mobilize opinion
on a larger scale. When the racists forced me into exile they
unwittingly led me onto a greater field of battle.

This is the time for demonstrations like the one we had
in the United Nations protesting the lynching of Patrice Lu-
mumba. We must display the type of courage that will em-
barrass this nation before the world. All this time we will
further identify our struggle for liberation with the struggle
of our brothers in Africa, and the struggle of the oppressed
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of Asia and Latin America. They in turn will further identify
their struggle with ours. The U.S. government is powerful
enough to eliminate racial discrimination overnight. But it
tolerates and abets Jim Crow.

This government will increasingly discover that every dis-
criminatory action against Afro-Americans it tolerates or
abets will be understood as a crime against their brothers
by the “uncommitted” colored peoples it so wishes to influ-
ence.
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Self-Defense:
An American Tradition
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The stranglehold of oppression cannot be loosened by
a plea to the oppressor’s conscience. Social change in some-
thing as fundamental as racist oppression involves violence.
You cannot have progress here without violence and up-
heaval because it is a struggle for survival for one and a
struggle for liberation for the other. Always the powers in
command are ruthless and unmerciful in defending their po-
sition and their privileges. This is not an abstract rule to
be meditated upon by Americans. This is a truth that was
revealed at the birth of America and has continued to be
revealed many times in our history. The principle of self-
defense is an American tradition that began at Lexington and
Concord.

Minds Warped by Racism

We have come to comprehend the nature of racism. It
is a mass psychosis. When I have described racial conditions
in the United States to audiences of foreign newsmen, Cu-
bans and other Latin Americans, they have been shocked to
learn of the depths of American race hatred. When I have
cited as illustrations such extreme situations as the segrega-
tion of telephone party-lines in Union County or the segre-
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gated pet-animal cemetery in Washington, D.C., where an
Afro-American cannot bury his dog, they find such things
comic as well as pathetic.

Such extreme examples of the racist mentality only ap-
pear comic when looked upon as isolated phenomena. In
truth they are perfectly logical applications of the premises
that make up the racist mentality. Look at the phenomena
this way and they are the logical inventions of a thoroughly
diseased mind. The racist is a man crazed by hysteria at the
idea of coming into equal human contact with Negroes. And
this mass mental illness called racism is very much a part of
the “American Way of Life.”

When Afro-American liberation is finally achieved in the
U.S.A,, one of the many new developments in such a society
will be some sort of institution that will correct those Ameri-
cans whose minds are thoroughly warped by racism. Some-
how a way will be found so that these insane people will be
made whole and well again.

“We Must Create a Black Militancy . ..”

This is the time for the Afro-American to act. Our sense
of national consciousness and militancy is growing. I speak
of the masses of people, the masses of Afro-Americans that
I know and have visited: in Jacksonville, Florida; in Atlanta,
Savannah and Macon, Georgia; in Columbia, Charleston and
Greenville, South Carolina. The oppressed and exploited
black men that I've met on the streets of Harlem, on the
streets of Detroit, and in Chicago. And I speak of the people
in Monroe where five years ago, when I started talking about
self-defense on the street, many of my black neighbors
would walk away to avoid me. Today, despite the FBI man-
hunt and my exile, despite the frame-up arrests and the
shootings since, despite the intimidation campaigns like the
one to drive Mrs. Johnson of The Crusader staff from Monroe,
despite all this, black Monroe continues its struggle.

As editor of The Crusader, I went south in the fall of
1960, deep into Jim Crowland, to observe the freedom strug-
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gle. I was confronted with this new wonderful spirit rising
throughout Dixie—this determination to break the chains of
bondage and the spirit of valor of a people who just a few
years ago were submissive peons in civilization’s no-man’s-
land. Daily I saw the old myth about Afro-Americans being
incapable of unity and action exploded.

In Savannah an NAACP leader contributed $30,000 to
the local branch. The branch has a full-time worker and a
suite of office space. Pickets and sit-iners have been beaten
and jobs have been lost, but the struggle goes on. The leader
is not afraid of violence to himself because the people are
with him. In that city an Afro-American union leader said
that it had come to pass that the masses of Afro-Americans
can see that “We must defend ourselves against violence
with violence.” Many of them now say that the American
white racist needs a good *“whipping” to bring him down to
earth and to break his white supremacy mania.

I learned in Atlanta that Mr. Elijah Muhammed had
made quite an impression and that many Afro-Americans are
learning, to the consternation and embarrassment of the
black respectable leadership, that he has more to offer than
weak prayers of deliverance. A prominent minister in South
Carolina said, ““Our biggest stumbling block is the Uncle Tom
minister—the people must stop paying these traitors.” In At-
lanta a university professor, energized by the new spirit on
the part of the Negroes, was very hopeful that new militant
leadership would replace the old Uncle Toms whose days,
he was confident, were numbered.

There are exceptions among us. The Uncle Toms, the
Judases, and the Quislings of the black “elite” would deny
this rising consciousness. They do everything possible to
make white Americans think that it is not true, while apolo-
gizing for us to the very people who oppress us. Some of
these “responsible” Negroes are afraid that militant action
damages “amiable race relations.” They complain that race
relations may deteriorate to a point that many Negroes may
lose jobs. What they mean is that they may lose their jobs.
For the black workers, who are the first to be fired and last, if
ever, to be hired, the situation is so bad it can’t deteriorate.
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We realize that there must be a struggle within our own
ranks to take the leadership away from the black Quislings
who betray us. Then the white liberals who are dumping
hundreds of thousands of dollars into our struggle in the
South to convert us to pacifism will have to accept our un-
derstanding of the situation or drop their liberal preten-
sions.

Why do the white liberals ask us to be non-violent? We
are not the aggressors; we have been victimized for over 300
years! Yet nobody spends money to go into the South and
ask the racists to be martyrs or pacifists. But they always
come to the downtrodden Negroes, who are already op-
pressed and too submissive as a group, and ask them not to
fight back. There seems to be a pattern of some sort of
strange coincidence of interest when whites preach a special
doctrine to Negroes. Like the choice of theology when the
plantation-owners saw to the Christianization of the slaves.
Instead of the doctrines which produced the rugged ag-
gressively independent and justice-seeking spirit that we
associate with Colonial America as the New England Con-
science, the slaves were indoctrinated in the most submis-
sive “trust-your-master,” ‘“pie-in-the-sky after-you-die” form
of Christianity.

It is because our militancy is growing that they spend
hundreds of thousands of dollars to convert us into pacifists.
Because our militancy is growing they come to us out of fear.

Of course, the respectable Negro leadership are the
most outspoken exponents of non-violence. But if these peo-
ple, especially the ministers, are such pure pacifists, why is
it that so few, if any, criticize the war preparations of this
country? Why is it that so few speak out against the Bomb?
Isn’t that the sort of preaching one expects and hears from
sincere pacifists? The responsible Negro leadership is paci-
fist in so far as its one interest is that we do not fight white
racists, that we do not “provoke” or enrage them. They con-
stantly tell us that if we resort to violent self-defense we will
be exterminated. They are not stopping violence—they are
only stopping defensive violence against white racists out of
a fear of extermination.
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This fear of extermination is a myth which we have ex-
posed in Monroe. We did this because we came to an active
understanding of the racist system and grasped the relation-
ship between violence and racism. The existence of violence
is at the very heart of a racist system. The Afro-American
militant is a “militant” because he defends himself, his fam-
ily, his home and his dignity. He does not infroduce violence
into a racist social system—the violence is already there and
has always been there. It is precisely this unchallenged vio-
lence that allows a racist social system to perpetuate itself.
When people say that they are opposed to Negroes ‘“‘resort-
ing to violence” what they really mean is that they are op-
posed to Negroes defending themselves and challenging the
exclusive monopoly of violence practiced by white racists.
We have shown in Monroe that with violence working both
ways constituted law will be more inclined to keep the
peace.

When Afro-Americans resist and struggle for their
rights they also possess a power greater than that generated
by their will and their hands. With the world situation as it is
today, the most racist and fascist United States government
conceivable could not succeed in exterminating 20,000,000
people. We know there is a great power struggle going on in
the world today and the colored peoples control the true
balance of power. We also know, from the statistics of the
Detroit race riots, that production in this country would fall
in forty-eight hours. People everywhere in the world would
be ready to support our struggle.

Nor should we forget that these same deceiving paci-
fist-preaching well-to-do southern blacks profit from the
struggle, living lives of luxury while most Afro-Americans
continue to suffer. Are they any better than the Negro Quis-
ling in neighboring Charleston, North Carolina—a black man
who rode around in a new pink Cadillac with anti-NAACP
and anti-integration literature, a huge roll of money and an
expense account, all the blessings of the White Citizens’
Council? It is an ironic sign that black Judases are becoming
more expensive as the white racist becomes desperate—
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though it is small consolation to those of us who suffer from
his betrayals.

In Monroe, where we fought the Klan, we were being
penalized. There are children there growing up without any
education, children without shoes, children without food.
Old people without medical attention. For the Monroe
Negro, there is no work; there is no welfare. From all the
money raised in the North by the official black leadership,
no one would send a penny to Monroe because the white
liberals who gave this money considered us to be outlaws
and thugs. They preferred to let us suffer rather than to iden-
tify themselves with our position. They sent truck convoys
into other places in the South but penalized us because we
took a militant stand.

But our children who are growing up without shoes are
also growing up with a sense of direction they cannot obtain
in the Jim Crow schools. There once was a threat, in Monroe,
of Negro teen-age gang war. It abated as the teen-agers re-
solved their difficulties by coming to understand the prob-
lem. It is only natural to expect the black youth to be
infected with a desire to do something. Frustrated by less
active adults, this desire may be projected in the wrong di-
rection. The vigor of the youth can be channeled into con-
structive militant actions. It is simply a matter of common
sense to have these young Negroes constructively fight ra-
cial injustice rather than fight among themselves. Danger is
not a respecter of color lines. It is better to bleed for a just
cause than to bleed just for the thrill of the sight of blood.
Rebellion ferments in modern youth. It is better that it ex-
pend itself against its true enemies than against teen-age
schoolmates who can’t even explain the reasons for their
dangerous skirmishes.

The Montgomery bus boycott was perhaps the most
successful example of completely pacifist action. But we
must remember that in Montgomery, where Negroes are rid-
ing in the front of buses, there are also Negroes who are
starving. The Montgomery bus boycott was a victory—but
it was limited. It did not raise the Negro standard of living. It
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did not mean better education for Negro children, it did not
mean economic advances.

Just what was the issue at hand for the white racists?
What sacrifice? Remember that in Montgomery most white
Americans have automobiles and are not dependent on the
buses. It is just like our own experience in Monroe when we
integrated the library. I called the chairman of the board in
my county. I told him that [ represented the NAACP, that we
wanted to integrate the library, and that our own library had
burned down. And he said, “Well, I don’t see any reason why
you can’t use the same library that our people use. It won'’t
make any difference. After all, | don’t read anyway.” Now,
this is the attitude of a lot of white Southerners about the
Montgomery bus boycott. The white people who control the
city didn't ride the buses anyway. They had their own pri-
vate cars, so it didn’t make any difference to them.

But when Afro-Americans get into the struggle for the
right to live as human beings and the right to earn the same
amount of money, then they’ll meet the greatest amount of
resistance, and out of it will come police-condoned or in-
spired violence. When that happens, the racist must be
made to realize that in attacking us he risks his own life.
After all, his life is a white life, and he considers the white
life to be superior. So why should he risk a superior life to
take an inferior one?

I believe, and a lot of other Negroes do too, that we
must create a black militancy of our own. We must direct
our own struggle, achieve our own destiny. We must realize
that many Afro-Americans have become skeptical and ex-
tremely suspicious of the so-called white liberals who have
dominated “Negro” freedom movements. They just feel that
no white person can understand what it is like to be a sup-
pressed Negro. The traditional white liberal leadership in
civil rights organizations, and even white radicals, generally
cannot understand what our struggle is and how we feel
about it. They have always made our struggle secondary and
after all these years we really never got any place.

They have a patient sense of good public relations. But
we're not interested in a good press. We're interested in be-
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coming free. We want to be liberated. To me oppression is
harmful. It is painful. I would wake up in the morning as a
Negro who was oppressed. At lunchtime, | would eat as a
Negro who was oppressed. At night [ would go to bed as a
Negro who was oppressed. And if | could have been free in
thirty seconds, it would not have been too soon.

“Too long have others spoken for us,” began the first
editorial in the first Afro-American newspaper, which began
publication in 1827. The truth of these words has not
dimmed in the century and a half since they first appeared
in Freedom’s Journal. They are more appropriate than ever.

There are white people who are willing to give us aid
without strings attached. They are willing to let us direct our
own struggle. They are genuinely interested in the liberation
of the Negroes. [ would not have been able to remain in the
South as long as I did if it had not been for the support that
I got from some white people in the North. And [ might never
have succeeded in escaping the legal-lynching manhunt fo-
mented by the FBI or have reached Cuban sanctuary but for
the help of whites. They will be willing to continue helping
us for the sake of justice, for the sake of human decency.

“Every Freedom Movement in the U.S.A.
Is Labeled ‘Communist’ ”

[ am not a member and I have never been a member of
the Communist Party. But most decent-minded Americans
should realize by now that every movement for freedom that
is initiated in the United States; every movement for human
dignity, for decency, every movement that seeks fairness
and social justice, every movement for human rights, is
branded as ‘“Communistic.” Whenever a white person par-
ticipates in a movement for black liberation, the movement
is automatically branded as “under the domination of Mos-
cow.” I can’t expect to be an exception.

This Communist-thing is becoming an old standard. An
old standard accusation now. Anyone who uncompromis-
ingly opposes the racists, anyone who scorns the religious
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fanatics and the super-duper American conservatives is con-
sidered a Communist.

This sort of thing gives the Communists a lot of credit
because certainly many people in my movement in the South
don’t know what a Communist is. Most of our people have
never even heard of Marx. When you say Marx some of the
people would think that maybe you were talking about a
fountain pen or a New York City cab driver. Or the movie
comedians.

But people aspire to be free. People want to be liber-
ated when they are oppressed. No matter where the leader-
ship comes from. The enslavement and suppression of
Negroes in the American South were going on before Karl
Marx was born, and Negroes have been rebelling against
their oppression before Marxism came into existence. As far
back as the 16th century, and the beginning of the 17th cen-
tury, Negroes were even rebelling on the slave ships. The
history of American Negro slavery was marked by very many
conspiracies and revolts on the part of Negroes.

Certainly the Marxists have participated in the human
rights struggle of Negroes, but Negroes need not be told by
any philosophy or by any political party that racial oppres-
sion is wrong. Racial oppression itself inspires the Negro to
rebellion. And it is on this ground that the people of Monroe
protested and on this ground that the people of Monroe re-
fused to conform to the standard of Jim Crow life in a Jim
Crow society. It is on this basis that they have struck out
against the insanity of racial prejudice. We know that the
Southern bigot, the Southern racist is mentally ill, that he is
sick. The fact that Jim Crow discrimination and racial segre-
gation may very well be based on economic exploitation is
beside the point.

We are oppressed and no matter what the original
cause or purpose of this oppression, the mind and personal-
ity of the racist doing the oppressing have been warped for
so long that he is a mental case. Even if the economic situa-
tion is changed it will take quite a while and require quite a
shock to cure this mental disease. I've read that one of the
best treatments for some forms of mental iliness is the shock
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treatment. And the shock treatment must come primarily
from the Afro-American people themselves in conjunction
with their white allies, in conjunction with the white youth.

This movement that I led was not a political organiza-
tion. It had no political affiliations whatsoever. It was a
movement of people who resented oppression. But I would
say one thing about our movement. What happened in Mon-
roe, North Carolina, had better become a lesson to the op-
pressors and the racists of America. Because it is symbolic
of a new attitude, symbolic of a new era. It means that the
Negro people are becoming restless. It means that there will
be many more racial explosions in the days to come. Monroe
was just the beginning. I dare predict that Monroe will be-
come the symbol of the new Afro-American, a symbol of the
Afro-American determined to rid himself of the stigma of
race prejudice and the pain and torture of race hate and
oppression at any cost.

Black Nationalism: Another Label

The label “Black Nationalist” is as meaningless as the
Communist label. The Afro-American resents being set aside
and oppressed, resents not being allowed to enter the main-
stream of American society. These people who form their
own groups because they have been rejected and start try-
ing to create favorable societies of their own are called
“Black Nationalists.”

This is a misleading title. Because the first thing you
must remember is that / am an Afro-American and /'ve been
denied the right to enter the mainstream of society in the
United States. As an Afro-American I am rejected and dis-
criminated against. We are the most excluded, the most dis-
criminated-against group in the United States; the most
discriminated-against class. So it is only normal that I direct
most of my energy toward the liberation of my people, who
are the most oppressed class.

As for being a “Black Nationalist,” this is a word that’s
hard to define. No, I'm not a “Black Nationalist™ to the point
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that I would exclude whites or that I would discriminate
against whites or that I would be prejudiced toward whites.
I would prefer to think of myself as an Inter-Nationalist. That
is, I'm interested in the problems of all mankind. I'm inter-
ested in the problems of Africa, of Asia, and of Latin America.
I believe that we all have the same struggle, a struggle for
liberation. Discrimination and race hatred are undesirable,
and I am just as much against racial discrimination, in all
forms, every place in the world, as | am against it in the
United States.

What do we mean by “nationalism”? When you con-
sider the present white American society it can be classified
as nothing but a nationalistic society based on race. Yet as
soon as an Afro-American speaks out for his people and is
conscious and proud of his people’s historical roots and cul-
ture, he becomes a “nationalist.” I don’t mind these labels. I
don’t care what they call me. I believe in justice for all peo-
ple. And because the Afro-American is the most exploited,
the most oppressed in our society, I believe in working fore-
most for his liberation.

Non-Violence and Self-Defense

The tactics of non-violence will continue and should
continue. We too believed in non-violent tactics in Monroe.
We have used these tactics, we've used all tactics. But we
also believe that any struggle for liberation should be a flex-
ible struggle. We should not take the attitude that one
method alone is the way to liberation. This is to become
dogmatic. This is to fall into the same sort of dogmatism
practiced by some of the religious fanatics. We can'’t afford
to develop this type of attitude.

We must use non-violence as a means as long as this is
feasible, but the day will come when conditions become so
pronounced that non-violence will be suicidal in itself. The
day is surely coming when we will see more violence on the
American scene. The day is surely coming when some of the
same Negroes who have denounced our using weapons for
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self-defense will be arming themselves. There are those who
pretend to be horrified by the idea that a black veteran who
shouldered arms for the United States would willingly take
up weapons to defend his wife, his children, his home and
his life. These same people will one day be the loud advo-
cates of self-defense. When violent racism and fascism strike
at their families and their homes, not in a token way but in
an all-out bloody campaign, then they will be among the first
to advocate self-defense. They will justify their position as a
question of survival. When it is no longer some distant Negro
who is no more than a statistic, no more than an article in a
newspaper, when it is no longer their neighbors but them,
and when it becomes a matter of personal salvation, then
their attitude will change.

As a tactic we use and approve non-violent resistance.
But we also believe that a man cannot have human dignity if
he allows himself to be abused, to be kicked and beaten to
the ground, to allow his wife and children to be attacked,
refusing to defend them and himself on the basis that he’s
so pious, so self-righteous, that it would demean his person-
ality if he fought back.

We know that the average Afro-American is not a paci-
fist. He is not a pacifist and he has never been a pacifist and
he is not made of the type of material that would make a
good pacifist. Those who doubt that the great majority of
Negroes are not pacifists, just let them slap one. Pick any
Negro on any street corner in the U.S.A. and they will find
out how much he believes in turning the other cheek.

All those who dare to attack are going to learn the hard
way that the Afro-American is not a pacifist, that he cannot
forever be counted on not to defend himself. Those who at-
tack him brutally and ruthlessly can no longer expect to at-
tack him with impunity.

The Afro-American cannot forget that his enslavement
in this country did not pass because of pacifist moral force
or noble appeals to the Christian conscience of the slave-
holders.

Henry David Thoreau is idealized as an apostle of non-
violence, the writer who influenced Gandhi, and through
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Gandhi, Martin Luther King, Jr. But Thoreau was not dog-
matic; his eyes were open and he saw clearly. I keep with me
a copy of Thoreau’s Plea For Captain John Brown. There are
truths that are just as evident in 1962 as they were in 1859
when he wrote:

... It was his [John Brown’s] peculiar doctrine that a man
has a perfect right to interfere by force with the slaveholder,
in order to rescue the slave. I agree with him. They who are
continually shocked by slavery have some right to be
shocked by the violent death of the slaveholder, but such will
be more shocked by his life than by his death. I shall not be
forward to think him mistaken in his method who quickest
succeeds to liberate the slave.

I speak for the slave when I say, that | prefer the philan-
thropy of Captain Brown to that philanthropy which neither
shoots me nor liberates me. . . . I do not wish to kill not to be
killed, but I can foresee circumstances in which both these
things would be by me unavoidable. We preserve the so-
called peace of our community by deeds of petty violence
every day. Look at the policeman’s billy and handcuffs! Look
at the jail! . . . We are hoping only to live safely on the out-
skirts of this provisional army. So we defend ourselves and
our hen-roosts, and maintain slavery. I know that the mass of
my countrymen think that the only righteous use that can be
made of Sharpe’s rifles and revolvers is to fight duels with
them, when we are insulted by other nations, or to hunt Indi-
ans, or shoot fugitive slaves with them or the like. [ think that
for once the Sharpe’s rifles and the revolvers were employed
in a righteous cause. The tools were in the hands of one who
could use them.

The same indignation that is said to have cleared the tem-
ple once will clear it again. The question is not about the
weapon, but the spirit in which you use it. No man has ap-
peared in America, as yet, who loved his fellowman so well,
and treated him so tenderly. He [John Brown] lived for him.
He took up his life and he laid it down for him. What sort of
violence is that which is encouraged, not by soldiers, but by
peaceable citizens, not so much by laymen as by ministers of
the Gospel, not so much by the fighting sects as by the Quak-
ers, and not so much by Quaker men as by Quaker women?

84



SELF-DEFENSE: AN AMERICAN TRADITION

This event advertises me that there is such a fact as death;
the possibility of man’s dying. It seems as if no man had ever
died in America before; for in order to die you must first have
lived.

It is in the nature of the American Negro, the same as
all other men, to fight and try to destroy those things that
block his path to a greater happiness in life.

“The Future Belongs to Today’s Oppressed”

Whenever [ speak on the English-language radio station
in Havana (which broadcasts for an audience in the United
States) I hope in some way to penetrate the mental barriers
and introduce new disturbing elements into the conscious-
ness of white America. I hope to make them aware of the
monstrous evil that they are party to by oppressing the
Negro. Somehow, | must manage to clearly reflect the image
of evil that is inherent in a racist society so that white Ameri-
cans will be able to honestly and fully see themselves as
they really are. To see themselves with the same clarity as
foreigners see them and to recognize that they are not cham-
pions of democracy. To understand that today they do not
really even believe in democracy. To understand that the
world is changing regardless of whether they think they like
it or not.

For I know that if they had a glimpse of their own reality
the shock would be of great therapeutic value. There would
be many decent Americans who would then understand that
this society must mend its ways if it is to survive, that there
is no place in the world now for a racist nation.

As an individual, I'm not inclined toward “politics.” The
only thing I care about is justice and liberation. I don’t be-
long to any political party. But I think that as long as the
present politics prevails the Negro is not going to be inte-
grated into American society. There will have to be great
political changes before that can come about.

Those Americans who most deny the logic of the future
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Robert and Mabel Williams in September 1996.

are the ones who have driven me into exile. Those people
have been cruel. Yet cruel as it may be, this exile was not the
end those people had planned for me. But it is not in the
hands of today’s oppressors to determine my end. Their role
in history denies them an understanding of this, just as their
role does not allow them to understand that every true na-
tionalist leader in Africa has been imprisoned or exiled and
that the future leaders of Latin American and Asian national
liberation today are experiencing imprisonment, exile, or
worse.

The future belongs to today’s oppressed and I shall be
witness to that future in the liberation of the Afro-American.
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